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          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Good morning.

          3  We're going to begin this Committee on Health.

          4                 My name is Christine Quinn, and I'm

          5  the Chair of the City Council's Committee on Health,

          6  and we're here today to have a hearing on Intro.

          7  207-A. It's a bill which is regarding nurses in our

          8  public and non-public schools.

          9                 And for some of you, maybe most of

         10  you, this may be de javu all over again, because

         11  this is the second hearing on this overall topic and

         12  at that first hearing we just had a hearing on the

         13  first version of the bill. This bill has an amended.

         14                 Let me just give folks, for the sake

         15  of history and the record, a little of the

         16  background about what brought us here.

         17                 In the budget that we voted on in

         18  June 2002, which was the first budget that Mayor

         19  Bloomberg and what some had dubbed the "new City

         20  Council" passed together, the Council very clearly

         21  left money in the budget, did not cut it, even

         22  though as we all recall, that was a very, very bad

         23  fiscal year, did not cut money that had been put in

         24  the budget for a number of years by our predecessor

         25  Speaker Vallone and Mayor Giuliani.
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          2                 The former Mayor and the former

          3  Speaker put money into the budget to create a pool

          4  that would serve as additional funding to get more

          5  nurses into our non-public schools.

          6                 In the wee hours of the morning of

          7  that budget, our Finance staff and the Office of

          8  Management and Budget identified accruals, unspent

          9  monies, in the Department of Mental Health and

         10  Hygiene.

         11                 And those unspent monies, as is

         12  typically the case in all City agencies at the end

         13  of a fiscal year, particularly in the end of a very,

         14  very bad fiscal year, going into a worse fiscal

         15  year, those accruals are cut from the budget,

         16  usually seen as a way to make cuts without having a

         17  significant service impact, because they lay unspent

         18  at the end of the year.

         19                 When those accruals were identified,

         20  our staff specifically asked the staff of the Office

         21  of Management and Budget if these accruals are

         22  taken, will they have a service impact? Will

         23  services be cut?

         24                 Our staff was repeatedly assured by

         25  the staff of the Office of Management and Budget
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          2  that this would not have a service impact.

          3                 Later on, after the passage of the

          4  budget in June of 2002, the Department of Health and

          5  Mental Hygiene took the funds that had been left in

          6  the non-public school nurses' part of the budget,

          7  and cut them and redirected them to other programs.

          8                 So, I was told by staff of the

          9  agencies, that the agencies had plans for those

         10  accruals that they now needed to fund, and that's

         11  why the monies were being redirected, among other

         12  reasons, but the bottom line was, money had been

         13  passed, a budget had been voted on with money for a

         14  particular initiative, and then without notification

         15  or approval from the City Council, that money was

         16  taken out of being dedicated for non-public school

         17  nurses, and given to other initiatives within the

         18  Department.

         19                 That was obviously of great concern

         20  to the Council; one, because there were many, many,

         21  many members of the Council who believed that that

         22  is important funding that should have been left in

         23  for non-public school nurses. It also was of concern

         24  to other members of the Council, because from the

         25  obvious procedural perspective, that when you pass a
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          2  budget, you have a hand-shake agreement, you

          3  minimally, minimally expect notification if things

          4  are going to be sent differently than what was

          5  agreed on.

          6                 In response to that, Council Member

          7  McMahon introduced a bill that would require nurses

          8  to be in all non-public schools.

          9                 As we moved forward on this issue of

         10  nurses in our schools, public and non-public, I have

         11  to admit, I assumed that the reason we had nurses,

         12  we had to provide nurses in non-public schools, was

         13  because there was a legal mandate that they were in

         14  public schools. And you know, in parity says that if

         15  you done one for the public, you have to do it for

         16  the privates. But I was wrong. It happens. There is

         17  actually no law that mandates there be a nurse in

         18  every elementary or middle school building.

         19                 This became a particular concern to

         20  us on the Council, because a few months ago we were

         21  notified, not by the agency, but by the union that

         22  represents nurses, that the union and nurses had

         23  received a notice saying there would be no nurses in

         24  summer school this summer for the general

         25  population.
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          2                 So, now it became clear to me that in

          3  what I would call an assault on nursing from nurses

          4  in our schools was moving forward. It was expanding.

          5  First it was the non-public, now public summer

          6  school.

          7                 I became very concerned about where

          8  would we see that end? Where would the cuts and the

          9  elimination of nurses and our school health program,

         10  where would it end?

         11                 We're also seeing a proposal for the

         12  time that doctors spend in our public schools, to be

         13  two weeks of their service to be reduced.

         14                 Based on really what we saw as a kind

         15  of a move forward to even further cut nurses in our

         16  schools, Council Member McMahon worked together and

         17  expanded this bill, and it now mandates that there

         18  be a nurse in schools of certain, certain

         19  intermediate and elementary schools, a certain size

         20  both in public and non-public school. The concept

         21  being if you have kids in a school, they need to

         22  have a nurse there who can respond to an emergency,

         23  who can respond to an asthma attack, who can respond

         24  to a child who has had peanut butter who has a

         25  deadly allergy to peanuts, to a child who just had a
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          2  bee sting who is very allergic to bees, or other

          3  larger accidents that could happen in our school.

          4                 So, the bill has been expanded to be

          5  even more comprehensive because that is what the

          6  actions I believe of this Administration had

          7  dictated that we need to do and must do

          8  legislatively.

          9                 This bill will have a cost. Putting

         10  more nurses in schools will cost money.

         11                 We will probably go back and forth

         12  today, the Administration will say this cost X, we

         13  will say it cost Y, somewhat less. That is typically

         14  what happens in these situations.

         15                 But we believe their estimates will

         16  probably be much higher than what we actually think

         17  they are. But we should be clear. This bill will

         18  cost money. There will be more staff and they will

         19  have to be paid, in what I hope will be productive

         20  negotiations after this hearing. We'll try to come

         21  to reality of what really the number will be and

         22  find that money in the budget because this issue is

         23  just that important.

         24                 Now, unfortunately, at our first

         25  hearing on this bill, the Administration expressed
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          2  some significant opposition to the bill, and in

          3  other conversations about the bill and the issue

          4  that opposition has continued.

          5                 Therefore, to be responsible from the

          6  Council's perspective, we need to factor the reality

          7  of a Bloomberg veto of this bill into our

          8  legislative calendar.

          9                 If we were to vote on the bill today,

         10  given that we go into summer break, which the kids

         11  with us can appreciate it, for July and August and

         12  we do not have as many full Council meeting, we only

         13  have one in August, if we were to pass it today, we

         14  would run the risk of not having enough time to

         15  override the Mayor's veto.

         16                 So, we've given you all a flyer. It

         17  has a date on there, I believe it's September 13th.

         18                 Can somebody tell me? Oh, I'm sorry,

         19  September 20th, at ten a.m. in this room, that is

         20  when we will be voting on this bill.

         21                 I announce that for two reasons: One,

         22  so that the Administration knows there is a

         23  deadline. We would very much like there to be a bill

         24  that you could support, because legislation is

         25  better when supported by both sides of City Hall
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          2  because then you have both sides of City government

          3  working towards implementation. That is very

          4  important. It also prevents lawsuits from the

          5  Administration against the Council.

          6                 So, I hope between now and September

          7  20th we will come up with a version of this bill

          8  true to its goals that the Administration can

          9  support.

         10                 I also announce that so for those of

         11  you who might have thought we were going to be able

         12  to vote, you know that we set a date, we've

         13  announced it publicly, we are going to vote on

         14  September 20th, but we cannot run the risk,

         15  unfortunately, of passing the bill and making it be

         16  only a hollow victory, if we're not able to override

         17  the veto.

         18                 Also, on the flyer are contact

         19  information, if you'd like to be kept to date. I ask

         20  you that before the 20th, just doublecheck that the

         21  time didn't get moved a little or something like

         22  that.

         23                 We're also passing around sign-in

         24  sheets just so we can make sure we keep you

         25  up-to-date as we move forward on the bill.
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          2                 So, just in closing, we're here today

          3  to protect the health of New York City's school

          4  children, whether they be in a Yeshiva school, a

          5  Catholic school, a Protestant school, a public

          6  school, a summer school.

          7                 It is better when you don't have to

          8  do these things legislatively, but the cuts just

          9  keep coming, unfortunately, to our school health

         10  program and we feel we need to set a legislative

         11  line in the sand that we're not going to send our

         12  kids to school without the protection they need by

         13  having a nurse, a higher level of nursing care, in

         14  the schools that they go to.

         15                 That said, before we hear from our

         16  first panel of folks, we're going to hear from

         17  Council Member McMahon and a couple of the other

         18  members.

         19                 Council Member McMahon, as I said, is

         20  the prime sponsor of Intro. 207-A, and really the

         21  driving force behind this piece of legislation in

         22  the City Council. And by driving force, you might

         23  also say a little bit of a nudge on the issue. I try

         24  to avoid him. Between now and September 20th, if you

         25  see me with funny nose and glasses, it's because I
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          2  don't want to tell Mike again where we're at with

          3  the bill.

          4                 But he is, as well he should be, a

          5  target advocate for the school children of Staten

          6  Island and the entire City.

          7                 Council Member McMahon.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you,

          9  Chairwoman Quinn. And I want everyone in this room

         10  to understand quite clearly, that we have a great

         11  leader in the City of New York, particularly on

         12  issues of health. And health for every person in the

         13  City of New York, especially every child in the City

         14  of New York, in person of Council Member Christine

         15  Quinn, and we should all be very grateful for her

         16  leadership on this.

         17                 This, to me, is a very simple issue,

         18  and an issue of utmost importance.

         19                 And what it comes down to simply is

         20  this: What are our priorities? And for me, as a

         21  Council Member in the City of New York, and number

         22  one priority has to be the health of our children.

         23                 This has been, as I said recently at

         24  a Town Hall meeting at St. Theresa's, a very long

         25  journey for all of us because when we first found
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          2  out a year and a half ago from Mrs. Herrera and

          3  others on Staten Island, that these cuts were

          4  pending, we rallied together from Staten Island to

          5  Queens to Brooklyn to the Bronx and then to

          6  Manhattan to make it very clear to the Bloomberg

          7  Administration that we will not tolerate a policy

          8  that puts the health and welfare of any single child

          9  at risk.

         10                 You can argue til the cows come home

         11  what the role of the Health Department should or

         12  should not be. That's not why we're here.

         13                 You can argue til the cows come home

         14  what the role of the City Council should or should

         15  not be, but that's not why we are here.

         16                 We are here simply to make sure that

         17  we complete this very important journey to make sure

         18  that as soon as possible there is a nurse in every

         19  school, irrespective of the type of school that it

         20  is.

         21                 We believe, quite clearly, and quite

         22  strongly, that every child -- no child should be put

         23  at risk and any child can be put at risk, whether

         24  it's from a seizure, whether it's from an allergy,

         25  whether it's from a bee sting, whether it's from an
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          2  injury, we have to make sure that our children have

          3  access to a nurse at any given moment.

          4                 Now, the current program in place by

          5  the Commission of the Department of Health, who I'm

          6  quite disappointed to see is not with us today, is I

          7  have a nurse and he or she is going to cover two or

          8  three schools a week.

          9                 So that means on Tuesday, if your

         10  child attends a certain given school, they have to

         11  get sick on Tuesday, because the nurse is in school

         12  on Tuesday, so the bees can only bite on Tuesday,

         13  the peanut allergies can attack only on a Tuesday.

         14  Your child cannot get sick on a Wednesday or a

         15  Thursday or a Friday, because there is no nurse

         16  there.

         17                 That is ridiculous. It is ludicrous,

         18  and it puts our children's health at risk.

         19                 Now, there are those who may say,

         20  well, you know what? Some parents choose not to send

         21  their child to a public school, and therefore,

         22  they're not entitled to a nurse, if they want it,

         23  they should pay for it themselves.

         24                 Well, that argument falls for two

         25  reasons: Firstly, as a matter of City management, if
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          2  all the parents who send their children to a

          3  non-public school chose, as is their right, to send

          4  those children for a public school, the system would

          5  collapse.

          6                 I believe there is 1.1 million

          7  children in public schools, and some nearly 400,000

          8  in non-public schools. What a bargain the City gets

          9  by having the non-public school system in place.

         10                 So, from that point of view, that

         11  argument is ridiculous.

         12                 But secondly, the Administration has

         13  now chosen to take away school nurses in public

         14  schools, at least during summer school we know for

         15  now, and as Chairwoman Quinn said, perhaps more so

         16  in the future.

         17                 Well, in many ways I have to thank

         18  them for doing that, and this is a cynical thank

         19  you, because it allowed us to gain more momentum for

         20  this bill, because it's become quite clear to

         21  everyone that there is not a commitment on the part

         22  of the Administration to make sure that every child

         23  is healthy and every child has an access to a nurse

         24  on any given moment, whether it's Monday, Tuesday,

         25  Wednesday, Thursday or Friday.
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          2                 So, we are here. I ask you to

          3  understand that this is a legislative process, it's

          4  long, it's arduous, but when we started our rallies

          5  together with Council Member Oddo and Lanza,

          6  throughout Staten Island and throughout this City,

          7  and now with Council Member Quinn and Speaker

          8  Gifford Miller, who in the State of the City

          9  Address, committed to passing this bill this year,

         10  that we see the light at the end of the tunnel, or

         11  we see the top of the mountain. We will get there.

         12                 And it's thanks to you, to you school

         13  administrators, to you school teachers, to you

         14  school nurses, to you parents, and to you students

         15  who are here today that we will succeed in our

         16  journey, and I thank you all very much for your

         17  belief and your passion in our system and most

         18  importantly in our children.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I just want to say

         21  we've been joined by the Minority Leader of the City

         22  Council, member of the Health Committee, Council

         23  Member Oddo.

         24                 We've also been joined by another

         25  member of the Health Committee, of Brooklyn, Council
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          2  Member Clarke; the Chair of our Public Safety

          3  Committee, Peter Vallone of Queens; the Chair of our

          4  Environmental Protection Committee, also of Queens,

          5  Jim Gennaro.

          6                 And both the Minority Leader and

          7  Council Member Gennaro asked if they could make

          8  brief opening statements.

          9                 So, we're going to call on the start

         10  of today's New York Times, Council Member Jim Oddo.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Madam

         12  Chair.

         13                 I just simply would like to thank you

         14  and Speaker Miller for your leadership in supporting

         15  the efforts of Council Member McMahon and so many of

         16  our colleagues.

         17                 I want to thank Council Member

         18  McMahon for his leadership on this issue and thank

         19  the folks from the home Borough of Staten Island.

         20  Really the epicenter of this battle has been on

         21  Staten Island and I want to thank all the Islanders

         22  who have been so forceful on this.

         23                 My take on this is a little bit

         24  different. I don't believe that this is a budgetary

         25  issue, and I certainly don't believe from the
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          2  Administration's point of view this is a matter of

          3  dollars and cents.

          4                 This is a philosophical point of

          5  view, this is an ideological point of view. This is

          6  a point of view that Tom Frieden has that children

          7  in non-public schools are getting more than what

          8  they're entitled to. And if you go back to November

          9  8th, and you look at the testimony, you'll see that

         10  this Administration in effect pitted public school

         11  children versus non-public school children.

         12                 So, if we printed all the money in

         13  the world, I still think that this administration

         14  would believe that children in non-public schools

         15  under the previous scenario and under Council Member

         16  McMahon's bill scenario, would receive more than

         17  what they're entitled to.

         18                 It's a perverted sense of the word

         19  "parity," and that's what we're going to explore

         20  today.

         21                 So, I want to thank you again,

         22  Council Member McMahon and Madam Chair.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

         24                 Council Member Gennaro.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Thank you,
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          2  Madam Chair. Thank you very much for your leadership

          3  on this issue.

          4                 I really wish to thank you in a very

          5  special and public way for doing all that you are

          6  doing for the school children of this City,

          7  particularly those that go to private school.

          8                 I also wish to thank Council Member

          9  McMahon for his leadership, and Council Member Oddo

         10  and Lanza for helping to lead the fight in Staten

         11  Island and ultimately led us here today.

         12                 I also wish to thank in a special way

         13  all of you who have dedicated your life to private

         14  education and to your advocacy on behalf of the

         15  children of the City.

         16                 My mother, her blessed memory,

         17  dedicated her life to religious education. She

         18  taught for 30 years in a local Catholic school, and

         19  I dedicate my efforts on this issue to her memory.

         20                 Thank you very much, Council Member

         21  Quinn, once again for your great leadership on this

         22  issue.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Just before we

         25  start I'll say you've all given a lot of great joy
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          2  to my father Lawrence Quinn, because the other night

          3  he called me on my cell phone and I said I couldn't

          4  talk, I was busy helping people at a Catholic School

          5  on Staten Island. After he said what? I said, yes, I

          6  said a Catholic school, I'll call you later. So,

          7  you've also given him great joy.

          8                 It perhaps made him think my soul

          9  will be redeemed. But anyway, I'm only kidding.

         10                 I'm now going to call on the

         11  representative from the Department of Health and the

         12  Department of Education. And just so the Council

         13  members and the folks in the audience know, Dr. Mary

         14  Bassett from the Department of Health will be

         15  testifying and Dr. Platt is here, will not be giving

         16  formal testimony, but is here for questions from the

         17  Council.

         18                 Thank you. Just ID yourself for the

         19  record.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Good

         21  morning, Madam Chairperson, members of the

         22  Committee. I'm Dr. Mary Bassett, the Deputy

         23  Commissioner of the Division of Health Promotion and

         24  Disease Prevention at the Department of Health and

         25  Mental Hygiene.
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          2                 I'll begin with my prepared

          3  testimony, and I'm sure we'll have time for

          4  questions later.

          5                 With me is Dr. Roger Platt who

          6  directs the joint School Health Partnership for the

          7  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene, and the

          8  Department of Education.

          9                 Today we are here to discuss the

         10  health of school children in New York City.

         11                 I believe that if we start with

         12  fundamental principals, we can come to a better

         13  understanding.

         14                 The Health Department is committed to

         15  protecting against disease and promoting health for

         16  all New Yorkers of all ages, all races and

         17  ethnicities, all religions in all neighborhoods.

         18                 I am confident that the Council

         19  shares this commitment.

         20                 To affect this commitment we are

         21  guided by two fundamental principles. The first is

         22  effectiveness.

         23                 Our health program should be designed

         24  to provide as much health benefit as possible, using

         25  proven interventions for the leading problems of
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          2  children.

          3                 The second principle is equity. The

          4  dollar spending per child in different systems to be

          5  the same so that children are accorded equitable

          6  benefits.

          7                 What makes our children sick has

          8  changed markedly over the years. Malnutrition,

          9  vitamin deficiencies and communicable diseases were

         10  leading problems in the past, and while these

         11  problems are not unknown even now, today our

         12  children face different health challenges.

         13                 For example, nearly half of

         14  elementary school children are overweight or obese.

         15  One in five is obese.

         16                 These children are at risk for many

         17  problems now and as adults. Approximately 300,000

         18  children have asthma, drug and alcohol use are

         19  significant and continuing problems. Before the age

         20  of 13, one-third of our school children have had

         21  experience with alcohol, one in eight smoke

         22  cigarettes, one in 15 has used marijuana, and one in

         23  ten has had sexual intercourse.

         24                 One in six high school students

         25  drinks alcohol heavily. Eight percent of high school
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          2  students, that's 18,000 teens, reported that they

          3  attempted suicide last year.

          4                 These data underscore the fact that

          5  most adult health problems have origin in patterns

          6  established during school going years.

          7                 The New York City's School Health

          8  Program is more than a century old. Over the years

          9  the School Health Program has adapted to changing

         10  public health needs and disease patterns. But its

         11  core mission remains to identify children with known

         12  or suspected health problems, refer them for care,

         13  and follow-up to ensure care was received.

         14                 In 1995, daily nurses were placed in

         15  public elementary schools to accommodate children

         16  who needed medications during the school day.

         17                 In 2000, daily nurses also were

         18  placed in private schools that requested nursing

         19  services.

         20                 Other activities continued as before

         21  in both public and non-public schools.

         22                 Today the School Health Program has a

         23  budget of nearly 60 million, and has more staff than

         24  any other program in the Department of Health and

         25  Mental Hygiene.
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          2                 School health is funded primarily

          3  from City taxpayer funds, with 36 percent from

          4  matching state funds.

          5                 The School Health Program staff does

          6  not prescribe medications or provide ongoing medical

          7  care.

          8                 A child's doctor must order every

          9  drug and the drug is provided by the family. The

         10  school nurse is also not an emergency medical

         11  provider. In the case of a medical emergency, the

         12  first person to identify the person in need should

         13  call 9-1-1.

         14                 In 2002, as we are preparing the FY

         15  2003 budget, New York City faced one of its worst

         16  budgetary crises in history.

         17                 Since Fiscal Year 2002, the

         18  Department's budget has been reduced by about $100

         19  million. We worked hard to find efficiencies in

         20  savings, include the effectiveness of our programs,

         21  and make cuts where they would have the least impact

         22  on health.

         23                 The school health budget necessarily

         24  came under review. In Fiscal Year 2002, the

         25  allocated budget, including a state match, stood
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          2  about 77 million.

          3                 Today it is nearly 60 million, a

          4  reduction of over 24 percent. Even so, the

          5  Department's remaining City tax levy budget

          6  sustained a larger proportional reduction of 29

          7  percent.

          8                 In fact, the lesser reductions in

          9  school health resulted in 3 million more in cuts to

         10  the rest of the agency.

         11                 This is in addition to the $3 million

         12  shortfall that the agency will cover in Fiscal Year

         13  2004.

         14                 A cut of this size required in-depth

         15  scrutiny of the school health budget. A careful look

         16  revealed that the nonpublic schools were allocated

         17  twice as much money per student for nurses as the

         18  public schools.

         19                 The non-public schools are smaller

         20  than the public schools. The nurse to student ratio

         21  was one to 755 in public schools, while in the

         22  non-public schools, it was one to 330. In budget

         23  terms, this meant that per student for every dollar

         24  allocated to a student in public school, we

         25  allocated two dollars to a student in non-public
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          2  school, in light of scarce resources, the

          3  inequitable distribution or resources to private

          4  schools did not seem fair.

          5                 We then modified the program to apply

          6  the same nurse/student ratio that existed in public

          7  schools to the non-public schools. This strategy of

          8  equity by enrollment resulted in a reduction of

          9  nurses to private schools.

         10                 This ratio, one to 755, is also

         11  consistent with the recommendations of the National

         12  School Help Nurse Association, and the federal

         13  Healthy People 2010 recommendations, which is one

         14  nurse for every 750 students.

         15                 The non-public schools and their

         16  advocates have requested restoration of services to

         17  levels that existed in 2001 and 2002.

         18                 As a result, discussions of the

         19  school health program have focused on nurses in

         20  schools, the numbers, the ratios, and so on.

         21                 While important, this does not

         22  constitute a full discussion of what services are

         23  needed to assure the health of young people in

         24  schools.

         25                 A nurse is only one part of an
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          2  effective school health program. To achieve health

          3  requires teachers, parents, principals, school

          4  maintenance staff, nutritionists, and many others.

          5                 Healthy kids are better learners.

          6  This motivates a shared mission between educators

          7  and school health programs, to assure a

          8  comprehensive approach.

          9                 In early 2003, this shared mission

         10  led us to establish a joint school program with the

         11  Department of Education. This partnership made

         12  logistical sense, since both agencies provide health

         13  services in the schools, and we have begun

         14  discussions about how to unify the nurse roles of

         15  the Department of Education and the Department of

         16  Health.

         17                 But our objective is more than

         18  efficiency. It is to develop a coherent vision for

         19  school health for New York's children as we enter

         20  the 21st century. And I'd like to take a moment to

         21  describe our goals to you, because they are very

         22  relevant protecting and improving health in both

         23  public and non-public schools.

         24                 Our overarching objective is to

         25  protect and improve the health of our children. To
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          2  do this, we work to assure a comprehensive approach

          3  to school health. This strategy reflects that

          4  developed by the federal government Center for

          5  Disease Control and Prevention, the CDC, and it has

          6  eight elements: Physical education, health

          7  education, health services, counseling and

          8  psychological services, a healthy environment,

          9  promoting health among school faculty and staff,

         10  coordination with parents and the community and

         11  healthy nutrition and food services.

         12                 For example, let's look at the

         13  obesity epidemic. We know that only about half of

         14  elementary school students have a healthy weight. By

         15  kindergarten one in five children are already obese.

         16  We need to get kids moving. That's physical

         17  education. Educate them about good nutrition, health

         18  education, monitor their height and weight, which

         19  may involve health services.

         20                 Identify space to exercise in school,

         21  the school environment, inspire faculty and staff to

         22  set a good example, educate parents about healthy

         23  eating and exercise habits, and assure healthy food

         24  in schools, nutrition and food services.

         25                 There's also a role for counseling,
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          2  since obesity has a social stigma. In other words,

          3  to tackle obesity, a health issue, we need the whole

          4  school.

          5                 Intro. 207-A seeks to increase the

          6  number of nurses in schools. The provides for a

          7  daily nurse in every public and private primary and

          8  intermediate school that requests the service, has

          9  an appropriate medical room and an enrollment of at

         10  least 200 students.

         11                 Further, the bill would require the

         12  Department of Health to provide additional nurses to

         13  any public or primary or intermediate school for

         14  every additional 750 children, as available.

         15                 If we consider all the schools to

         16  which Intro. 207-A would apply, there are many more

         17  schools, public and private that would be entitled

         18  to request services.

         19                 Schools that now lack a medical room

         20  may build one. The New York State Education

         21  Department lists 746 private schools that include

         22  primary grades in New York City.

         23                 Taking this entire universe of

         24  private schools into account, Intro. 207-A would

         25  require a budget of an additional 61 million per
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          2  year to support more than 1,000 additional nurses,

          3  doubling the present budget of school health.

          4                 Of this, 23 million would need to be

          5  budgeted for public elementary schools, 22 million

          6  for public intermediate schools, and 16 million for

          7  non-public schools.

          8                 Among the schools eligible for

          9  services would be the elite private schools, all of

         10  which I am confident already have a nurse.

         11                 Of course the cost of the legislation

         12  could be somewhat less, in the event that we are

         13  unable to hire nurses or fewer schools request

         14  services.

         15                 On the other hand, it does not

         16  include the cost of providing nurses in summer

         17  school, which would be several million dollars more.

         18                 I'd like to bring to your attention

         19  the following practical concerns. Intro. 207-A would

         20  require a daily nurse in 60 public elementary

         21  schools that have nursing services available by way

         22  of school-based health center.

         23                 It would put a nurse in all public

         24  intermediate schools where a public health advisor,

         25  under the supervision of a nurse who oversees five
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          2  intermediate schools now provides services.

          3                 A nurse is not required for

          4  medication administration in intermediate school,

          5  because at this age students can self-administer

          6  medication.

          7                 There is no role for a live health

          8  staff in Intro. 207-A, and if the statute passes in

          9  its current form, we would have to consider what to

         10  do with the 162 public health advisors who currently

         11  work in intermediate schools. It is likely that we

         12  would have to lay them off.

         13                 From a public health perspective, we

         14  strongly urge that the Council reconsider this

         15  legislation. It would enact a mandate to spend money

         16  in a way that would not yield the maximum health

         17  benefit, and would be unfair to public school

         18  students.

         19                 Aspects that are particularly

         20  problematic include:

         21                 1) requiring coverage for

         22  intermediate schools.

         23                 2) requiring additional nurses for

         24  larger schools. Replacing our current system of

         25  using allied health staff.
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          2                 3) requiring a full-time nurse in

          3  every covered school, which is not the most

          4  effective use of school health resources.

          5                 4) locking in nurse staff ratios,

          6  which will not allow the flexibility to utilize

          7  resources in other ways that would have a greater

          8  positive health impact; and

          9                 5) not upholding the principle of

         10  parity of funding per student in covered public and

         11  non-public schools.

         12                 As the City's public health agency,

         13  we care equally about all children regardless of

         14  race, income, ethnicity or religion.

         15                 In order to make the maximum impact

         16  on improving the health of New Yorkers, we focus on

         17  the interventions that can make the greatest

         18  difference.

         19                 If we have additional resources for

         20  children's health, we would suggest that they be

         21  focused on the following areas:

         22                 These areas of intervention have

         23  proven health benefits, and will make a significant

         24  difference in the health of our school children in

         25  both public and non-public schools.
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          2                 1) prevent blindness. Amblyopia, or

          3  weak eye, is the leading cause of blindness and

          4  affects three to four percent of children. If not

          5  detected and treated in early childhood, the result

          6  may be monocular blindness, and an increased risk of

          7  blindness in the good eye later in life.

          8                 The ideal time to detect amblyopia is

          9  in the pre-school years. If it is found before age

         10  seven, the condition is usually treatable.

         11                 We can improve our follow-up --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Just hang on one

         13  second.

         14                 Could you guys in the back just close

         15  the doors. The bagpipes have begun outside for the

         16  Fire Department, so I just want to increase our

         17  ability to hear you.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: If we

         20  improve our follow-up of the 4,450 children each

         21  year at risk for amblyopia, extend screening to

         22  younger pre-K children, the younger you identify

         23  this condition, the better, and keep children from

         24  going blind in that eye.

         25                 Number two. Prevent diabetes and

                                                            35

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  obesity. We know how to get children moving. We need

          3  more resources to do this. We should train teachers

          4  in fitness promotion, make schoolyards more suitable

          5  for active play, and improved health education. The

          6  key to many preventable diseases is making healthier

          7  choices and creating an environment that supports

          8  healthier choices.

          9                 We should do better in educating

         10  children about health while they're in school.

         11                 Three. Prevent suicide and violence.

         12  We know that in high school one in three young

         13  people report that sadness is so pervasive they

         14  cannot conduct their usual activity.

         15                 About 18,000, eight percent, report

         16  that they tried to take their own life in the

         17  previous year. Acting out in violence remain an

         18  enduring part of school life. Our present School

         19  Health Program offers virtually no services in high

         20  schools.

         21                 We can do better. We should train

         22  teachers to better recognize mental distress and

         23  handle the behavior of their students, and identify

         24  means to improve the behavioral health of the

         25  majority of students, and find needed resources for
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          2  the few who require more intensive assistance.

          3                 Four. Additional coverage for

          4  non-public school. If we have additional resources,

          5  we could provide additional nursing resources to

          6  private schools, considering both school size and

          7  medical need, while maintaining per student funding

          8  equity.

          9                 Five. Continue school health

         10  services. Because of cost increases and other

         11  factors, current program spending will exceed the

         12  budget by approximately $3 million next year. Unless

         13  alternative sources of funding are found, this could

         14  require a reduction in services to both public and

         15  non-public schools.

         16                 Six. Preserve school-based health

         17  centers. Each borough has received funding for one

         18  school-based health center from the Department of

         19  Health and Mental Hygiene. We recognize the

         20  school-based clinics as a valuable service.

         21                 These clinics all serve high schools,

         22  where I've mentioned we've had few services, and we

         23  would wish to restore these subsidies if additional

         24  resources are available.

         25                 In Fiscal Year 2006, these clinics
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          2  will have a better chance of obtaining funding from

          3  the New York State Department of Health, which

          4  already funds 119 school-based health centers in the

          5  public schools around the City.

          6                 The approach I've described would

          7  cost much less and deliver more health. It would add

          8  nurses in non-public schools restore the

          9  school-based health centers and make whole our

         10  present school health budget. It would help prevent

         11  blindness, reduce obesity, and the resulting risk of

         12  diabetes, and improve health education.

         13                 It would help us begin to address the

         14  huge issues facing our high school students. We look

         15  forward to working with the Council toward a policy

         16  that will provide the greatest health benefit to our

         17  children.

         18                 I'll be glad to try to answer your

         19  questions.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

         21                 I want to say we've been joined by a

         22  member of this Committee, Council Member Helen Sears

         23  of Queens, by the Chair of our Finance Committee

         24  David Weprin of Queens, and Council Member Andrew

         25  Lanza from Staten Island.
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          2                 I have a couple of different areas I

          3  want to ask questions in, but let's start with .6 on

          4  your page seven. Your administration has proposed to

          5  defund these clinics. I don't want to belabor this

          6  point, because it's like off topic from the bill but

          7  for the record, I want to be clear. The Preliminary

          8  Budget and the Executive Budget proposed for '04, as

          9  well as the Executive Budget that was proposed for

         10  the year that we're in -- last year Mayor Bloomberg

         11  and Commissioner Frieden proposed to defund these

         12  five clinics. I suggested we spend a year working

         13  with the clinic to help them identify other means of

         14  funding and move forward to weaning them off of the

         15  City funding, if they were able to identify other

         16  means of funding. The Commissioner testified that

         17  had not been done, and, again, the Department of

         18  Health and Mental Hygiene and Mayor Bloomberg, are

         19  proposing defunding these five clinics.

         20                 So, should I read number six to say

         21  you've restored that money?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: If we

         23  were to receive additional resources, we wish to

         24  restore the school-based health centers.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: But if you were to
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          2  receive the additional funding, let me be clear, it

          3  would be identified what you would be able to spend

          4  it on. So, you're interest in spending it on that is

          5  interesting, but probably irrelevant, because if we

          6  put it back in for that, it will be line itemed for

          7  that. So, I should take from it that you like it

          8  enough that basically if somebody else puts in the

          9  money you'll spend it. But you don't like it enough

         10  or think of it as such a priority that you would

         11  seek to preserve it over other things in your agency

         12  which you did not cut. Because you're right,

         13  tragically the budget is about choices. And if I

         14  choose to get this back in, or Jimmy or Mike or

         15  anybody else does, then you'll fund it as

         16  instructed, you won't withhold the money from it,

         17  you won't kind of embargo the money, which one might

         18  do if you thought something was reprehensible or

         19  offensive or illegal, but you don't think it is

         20  enough of a priority for children's health to keep

         21  it in the budget, which might cause you to choose

         22  not to do something else.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I think

         24  you're asking the question what our thinking is when

         25  we look at our budget and make hard choices about
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          2  what to keep in and what to keep out.

          3                 Now, the school-based clinics are a

          4  more costly program per school than our core

          5  services are.

          6                 So, at a time when we're reducing our

          7  budget, we seek to maintain our core services. It is

          8  not a core service of our school health program to

          9  put a school-based health center in every high

         10  school. We don't have the funding to do that. And at

         11  a time when we are faced with budget reductions, we

         12  make those choices to maintain our core services,

         13  and that was the reasoning that we use.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: But you did,

         15  although you identify it as one of six things that

         16  would make school children healthier, you're still

         17  cutting it, and unless the Council intervenes, these

         18  five clinics, which are one of your top six things,

         19  which would make kids healthier, and I don't want to

         20  belabor the point, are going to close. Something you

         21  think is in the top six of things that could make

         22  kids healthier, you will close the doors on unless

         23  someone else intervenes.

         24                 You chose this as something to cut

         25  over other things; the door-to-door health clinic,
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          2  which is about -- door-to-door health survey you are

          3  doing, which I think is about $400,000 City tax

          4  levy, this is only a little bit more than that. Or

          5  your tobacco programs or whatever, but you chose

          6  other things over this, and unless the Council will

          7  intervene, these will close; is that correct? You've

          8  identified this as a cut.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: At

         10  present the school-based clinics are funded at about

         11  560,000 total.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Right.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: But each

         14  school gets about 180,000.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I don't want the

         16  exact numbers, I just want an answer to the

         17  question.

         18                 If the budget was to be passed today,

         19  as your Commissioner and your Mayor proposed it,

         20  these five clinics would close, they would not be

         21  open when school started.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: That is

         23  the proposed budget.

         24                 What I think I've made clear in the

         25  testimony is that we see the value of these clinics.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Sure. You've made

          3  it clear that you made a mistake, that these are

          4  actually really important. I could read into this,

          5  but you regret having done it, because you think

          6  they need to be open as one of the top six things we

          7  can do for kids' health. You start the testimony

          8  identifying you're deep, which I completely concur

          9  you and the Commissioner of the Department have,

         10  commitment to kids' health, and therefore this cut

         11  you made was a mistake, and you're coming to us to

         12  fix the mess you made by proposing to cut these five

         13  clinics.

         14                 Let me just move on to a couple of

         15  other technical things. You said you don't think the

         16  bill addresses to cover summer school. Our intention

         17  was to cover summer school. If that wasn't clear

         18  enough in the bill version B, we will make that

         19  clear. So, we thought it was, but if it's not,

         20  that's obviously not a problem and we can absolutely

         21  make sure that's covered.

         22                 I just have a couple of more

         23  technical questions, and then we'll go on to other

         24  members and I'll come back.

         25                 I wanted to go, on page four you talk
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          2  about kind of numbers of schools, then dollars, et

          3  cetera, and as I said, and this is always the case,

          4  there would be difference in the numbers.

          5                 Just so you know, on page four in the

          6  last paragraph, the New York State Education

          7  Department lists 746 private schools. We actually

          8  looked at that list and looked at the number, looked

          9  at the school to figure out which ones had student

         10  bodies size that would fit into this bill, and it's

         11  actually 387.

         12                 Now, of that 387, which don't know

         13  which ones have rooms, and some of the other

         14  factors, but minimally the 746 is 387. So that takes

         15  the numbers down a little bit.

         16                 The dollars you're quoting in here,

         17  are they gross dollars, or are they City tax levy

         18  dollars?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: These

         20  are total funds.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I'm sorry, I

         22  didn't hear.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Total

         24  funds.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay. So, the City
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          2  portion would be percentage-wise, how much less?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: We get

          4  36 cents on the dollar from the state.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay, so 36

          6  percent of that, the amount you quoted, give or

          7  take, would be covered by the State; is that

          8  correct?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: That's

         10  correct.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay. And then the

         12  estimate in here, does it reflect, the numbers you

         13  come up with both in dollars and numbers of nurses,

         14  does that reflect the proposed mandate of one nurse

         15  in every school above 200? Or does it reflect the

         16  cost of providing that and a possible additional

         17  nurse, if available, for each additional 750

         18  students?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: The $61

         20  million reflects the full universe of the bill and

         21  the schools. That means that it would include an

         22  additional nurse for schools that are 750 or more,

         23  and an additional nurse for every additional 750

         24  students.

         25                 Your next question is going to be,
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          2  what do we think the bill would cost if it were

          3  limited to putting one nurse in every school?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Well, no, I was

          5  going to tell you, I wasn't going to ask --

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: It would

          7  be 20 to 25 million.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Our estimate for

          9  the mandated portion of the bill in City tax levy

         10  dollars is 28.2 million.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: That's

         12  higher than ours.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I'm sorry, 18.1.

         14  18.1 in City tax levy, and 28.2 in growth, for the

         15  mandated portion of the bill.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Right.

         17  And I would point out that the mandated portion of

         18  this bill creates an inequity and expenditure

         19  between the public and non-public schools.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I guess I don't

         21  understand. Let's get to that in a second, but let

         22  me just point out one other thing.

         23                 On page three, in the second

         24  paragraph -- Andy, anything else we need on the

         25  numbers? Oh, great. So, we got what we need on the
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          2  numbers.

          3                 On page three in paragraph two, the

          4  third sentence you say, the ratio is also consistent

          5  with the recommendations of the National School of

          6  Health Nurse Association and the federal Healthy

          7  People 2010 recommendation, which is one nurse for

          8  every 750 students. But the staff have indicated to

          9  me that they actually have read these documents and

         10  what it actually says is that it should be no more

         11  than a one to 750 ratio, which is different.

         12                 What you said was the number they

         13  said worked, they said if you go any higher than

         14  that, it becomes a danger. They didn't set that as

         15  the number.

         16                 So, they recommend at least one nurse

         17  to no more than 750 students. So, it may seem like

         18  semantics, but I think it's a different thing, that

         19  they say worse than that, higher than is a danger,

         20  they didn't say that's the number we should strive

         21  for. Actually, one could take from that that they

         22  are trying to indicate that we should strive for

         23  less than that.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I think

         25  the Healthy People 2010 goals hope to encourage
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          2  schools to achieve at least that ratio.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: But in the

          4  National School Health Nurse Association, I believe

          5  what the staff has given to me is correct, we can

          6  send you a copy of the page in question.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I have

          8  it here. You're right, it says at least.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay, so it does.

         10  Okay, thank you.

         11                 Let's go to the my last point on the

         12  equity parity issue. That issue was raised at the

         13  first hearing we had on 207, Intro. 207, which did

         14  not include public schools, and that argument was

         15  certainly raised. I don't really see how 207-A

         16  creates an inequity, because it doesn't say Catholic

         17  schools one to 100. Yeshiva Schools one to 80,

         18  public schools one to 750. It set a standard number

         19  regardless of the type of school that it is.

         20                 Now, the first hearing an issue was

         21  raised, and I think it's legitimate that there are

         22  different ways to look at parity, and the reality

         23  that Catholic and other non-public schools tend to

         24  be smaller, creates the reality that there may be

         25  the same nurse to number of students, but if that
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          2  nurse is driving all over a borough, or in between

          3  boroughs, if you looked at parity on the hour of a

          4  nurse is in a school and accessible to a child, it

          5  would come out quite differently than if you looked

          6  at it from a person to a student, because if there's

          7  eight hours in a work day or seven hours in a work

          8  day, and two and a half of those or whatever are

          9  driving around, it's a different calculation.

         10                 So, I think that's an important part

         11  of the parity discussion as well, but that said, I'm

         12  a little confused on how 207-A, since it's driven by

         13  numbers of students, that you still see it having

         14  such a parity issue.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: As I

         16  understand it, 207-A requires that a nurse be placed

         17  in every school with an enrollment of 200 or more

         18  students.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Correct.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Right.

         21                 And then above that, the schools that

         22  are larger will get additional nurses.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: If available.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: If

         25  available, recognition that it may be difficult to
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          2  recruit nurses.

          3                 When we do that, when we place a

          4  nurse in every school, whether student enrollment

          5  200 or more, the non-public schools get per head

          6  more -- when we look at the number of students per

          7  nurse, they get, let me see if I can make this

          8  clear. Because the non-public schools are smaller,

          9  when we put a nurse in every school with an

         10  enrollment of 200 or more, the nurse to student

         11  ratio and the non-public schools is lower, because

         12  there are many large non-public schools that would

         13  receive just one nurse, that's what required,

         14  whereas the non-public schools are smaller.

         15                 The average enrollment of non-public

         16  schools is about 330, whereas the average enrollment

         17  of public schools is 755.

         18                 To give you an example, if we looked

         19  at the number of non-public schools that have an

         20  enrollment of 750 or greater, there are under ten, I

         21  believe the number is seven; whereas, when we look

         22  at public elementary schools that have an enrollment

         23  of 750, there are over 200 of them.

         24                 So, on a systemwide basis there are

         25  just many more large schools in the public school
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          2  system, and by placing a nurse in every school, the

          3  nurse to student ratio between the public and

          4  non-public schools is different, and it is much

          5  higher in the non-public schools than it is in the

          6  public schools.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Two questions. The

          8  larger schools, are they more intermediate than

          9  elementaries, do you know?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Well,

         11  I'm looking at the numbers now of primary schools,

         12  elementary schools. Which by the way, in the public

         13  school system it's K through five or six, and in the

         14  non-public school system tends to be K through 8.

         15  There are 420 schools with an enrollment, 427 public

         16  schools with an enrollment of 200 to 749, as

         17  compared to 225 in the non-public schools, and we

         18  got up above 750, as I've pointed out there, in

         19  fact, 277 public schools greater than 750

         20  enrollment, these were elementary schools, and only

         21  seven private schools. There are 12 private schools

         22  for which we had no enrollment information.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: The expansion of

         24  the bill to include publics was obviously, one, to

         25  address some of the concerns that had been raised at
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          2  the first hearing, and then, two, to address, as I

          3  said, my fear that the cuts to the School Health

          4  Programs are going to continue to nurses in the

          5  public schools. I think having it at 200 and then

          6  you get more over that if requested, creates an

          7  additional level of parity, even in addition to the

          8  issue I raised about the geographic issues of if you

          9  define parity by hours and it would come out

         10  differently than if you did it by student to nurse,

         11  if there is, you know, a nurse has to drive around

         12  from school to school, he or she is not going to be

         13  in the building for the student.

         14                 So, I think we've achieved an even

         15  greater level of parity in 207-A.

         16                 That said, is the Department

         17  requesting that we somehow add a different trigger

         18  in between 200 and 750 additional nurses, if there

         19  is a concern that there might not be enough in the

         20  public schools?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Let me

         22  just start out by clarifying, I should have

         23  clarified when you first remarked, we don't actually

         24  split nurses between schools on a daily basis. So,

         25  we assign nurses to schools on whole day basis, so
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          2  half time means alternating whole days, as opposed

          3  to split time.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Maybe after the

          5  hearing we could have some follow-up conversations,

          6  because I have received reports, and I apologize, I

          7  don't have the names of the schools in front of me,

          8  I received numerous reports of schools where that is

          9  the scenario. So, perhaps after the hearing at

         10  another point we could talk about that kind of

         11  discrepancy from what the Department believes is the

         12  rule, and how it may be getting implemented. Because

         13  I've certainly heard a number of very different

         14  scenarios from schools.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Maybe,

         16  if you'd like, I could ask Dr. Platt to comment on

         17  this?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Sure.

         19                 DR. PLATT: There are a lot --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Oh, just identify

         21  yourself, Doctor.

         22                 DR. PLATT: I'm sorry. I'm Dr. Roger

         23  Platt. I'm the Director of School Health Program.

         24                 There are obviously many categories

         25  of coverage for the non-public schools.

                                                            53

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 The split days are more likely to

          3  occur in schools that don't have medical rooms where

          4  the amount of time that the nurse spends in the

          5  school is very limited.

          6                 As a general rule, non-public schools

          7  with medical rooms receive a nurse on a full-day

          8  basis, not five days a week often. But my

          9  understanding is it's generally on a full-day basis.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: What I'll do is

         11  after the hearing, I'll compile the information I

         12  have and we can sit down and go over it and figure

         13  out whether there's something else going on out in

         14  the field that the Department doesn't know of or

         15  whether there's people making mistakes or whatever,

         16  to address that.

         17                 .

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I

         19  commented in my testimony that I think we can spend

         20  a lot of time talking about numbers and ratios, and

         21  sort of lose sight of what I consider the big

         22  picture.

         23                 If we were to put a whole lot more

         24  money into the school health program, what would be

         25  the best thing to spend that money on. And that's
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          2  what I've tried to outline in the testimony.

          3                 Now, when we look at placing a nurse

          4  in every school with an enrollment of greater than

          5  200, at the schools where we presently are providing

          6  services, which is sort of the most sit down version

          7  that we get, about the same as yours, I hope you'll

          8  be pleased to know, but those will create an

          9  inequity in the per student expenditure between the

         10  non-public and public school for the simple reason

         11  that the non-public schools are smaller, and when

         12  you put a nurse in every school, in a bunch of small

         13  schools, as compared to a nurse in every school in

         14  large schools, then you end up with a higher nurse

         15  to student ratio in the public system. And I

         16  consider that inequitable. That I don't consider

         17  fair. It translates, in money terms, into more money

         18  spent per head on a non-public school student than

         19  on a public school student, and I don't think that

         20  we can support that kind of application of funds. We

         21  instead would encourage the Council to look at equal

         22  expenditure on a per capita basis, between these two

         23  systems.

         24                 I also could point out to you that by

         25  removing services from small schools, those that are
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          2  less than 200, we would stop delivering services to

          3  nearly 100 non-public schools which are presently

          4  receiving nursing services of some sort.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Well, one, I don't

          6  think this bill would mandate that you would  pull

          7  them out of those schools, but we could certainly

          8  address a grandparent clause in the bill that that

          9  no school would lose what they had as we moved on,

         10  so we'll take a look at that.

         11                 You know, I think the bill has gone a

         12  long way to try to address the parity issues you've

         13  raised. I did ask, but we could maybe talk about it

         14  more after the hearing of whether a trigger in

         15  between 200 and 750 would somehow address your

         16  concerns for public, but we'll explore that

         17  internally, as well as the kind of grandparenting

         18  idea so you couldn't then pull it out, and as I say,

         19  there's some issues raised about the legal drafting

         20  of the bill, we think the bill is legally drafted

         21  very solidly, but we will certainly go look at the

         22  grandparent clause and whether there should be a

         23  medium trigger in there, not because I think, and I

         24  agree with you on the points about parity, but

         25  perhaps there's a middle need there that we didn't
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          2  capture.

          3                 I'm going to call on Council Member

          4  McMahon. And we've also been joined by Council

          5  Member Philip Reed, a member of the Committee, who

          6  stepped out for a second. And I just want to tell

          7  folks, Committee members may be going in and out.

          8  We're in the midst, as the first question seemed to

          9  indicate, of budget negotiations, and there is a

         10  negotiating team meeting this morning. So, if you

         11  see people coming in and out as they're not

         12  interested, there's just other meetings going on at

         13  the same time.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you,

         15  Madam Chairwoman. Good morning, doctors. I will say

         16  this, that throughout this discussion I've walked

         17  away from each and every meeting and hearing with

         18  really the same outrage, I have to say, at the

         19  position that the Department has taken, and almost

         20  in the arrogant way that you've made statements

         21  regarding this issue, and this testimony today, it

         22  really is the icing on the cake, because in this

         23  testimony you point to, you make statements that

         24  reinstituting nurses in the schools that had been

         25  there before would double the size of your

                                                            57

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  school-based budget, and that is outrageous I think.

          3                 And then you make statements about

          4  how important school health is, and as Chairwoman

          5  Quinn pointed out, you speak about a program as

          6  being vitally important, yet your proposed budget

          7  cuts that program. And we're talking about the

          8  school-based clinics like in New Dorp High School

          9  and Staten Island.

         10                 And I really am amazed at the fact,

         11  for instance, that you speak about how we're going

         12  to begin to address the issue of schools that have

         13  the Department of Education nurses, and Department

         14  of Health nurses in the schools.

         15                 You told us that nearly two years ago

         16  in a meeting here at City Hall, and yet you make the

         17  same statement now two years later, and I just have

         18  to say that the whole argument about parity has been

         19  an issue.

         20                 I mean, quite frankly, that kite

         21  doesn't fly, because we all know that this is not

         22  about parity. This is about an attempt to have the

         23  opposite of parity or an unequal system.

         24                 Let me ask you this: What happened

         25  first in the Department of Health? Was it a decision
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          2  to cut out the nurses in the non-public schools and

          3  then you found the argument of parity?

          4                 Or did someone say, you know, this is

          5  unfair, there's a disparity here, so therefore we

          6  should cut out the nurses. When was a decision made

          7  to cut these nurses? The existing program? It was

          8  during a very severe budget time, wasn't it?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: That's

         10  right. You would like me to answer that question

         11  first?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Yes.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I joined

         14  the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene in

         15  August of 2002, and discussions were -- I entered

         16  discussions of this cut.

         17                 When I arrived we were reducing the

         18  budget and were facing budget cuts, as you noted,

         19  which were the most severe that had been experienced

         20  in many years.

         21                 The idea that we would first try to

         22  cut a program and then retrofit an argument to it to

         23  justify that cut, I can assure you did not take

         24  place.

         25                 When we have to cut a budget we
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          2  scrutinize it very carefully, and try to figure out

          3  the core services that we have to try and protect

          4  against all odds and look at the way in which we're

          5  spending money across the entire budget.

          6                 So, it was in the course of that

          7  scrutiny that we noted the lack of parity in terms

          8  of expenditure in the non-public and public schools.

          9                 You know, I think that you're right,

         10  we keep going around in circles about this, and

         11  these aren't made-up numbers, these are numbers

         12  based on enrollment and the budget, and when we do

         13  the math, it came out to one nurse for every 330

         14  non-public school student, and one nurse for every

         15  755 public elementary school students.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: But my point

         17  is, it wasn't a search for fairness that led you to

         18  that conclusion, it was a search to cut the budget,

         19  and therefore here's a program, let's find a way to

         20  explain why we should cut it, let's call it parity.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I think

         22  that you're right, that equity isn't always served

         23  by an equal share. That a mechanical notion of

         24  equity is not one that I adhere to either.

         25                 If, for example, I had evidenced that
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          2  the public school students were sicker than the

          3  non-public school students, something that might be

          4  the case. Our students in the public schools are

          5  poorer, more likely to be members of ethnic minority

          6  groups, it's possible. But we could find no such

          7  evidence that these kids in public schools were any

          8  sicker than the kids in non-public schools, and it's

          9  for that reason that we thought that numerical

         10  equity was appropriate, in other words an equal

         11  share.

         12                 If we had found instead that there

         13  were bigger problems with asthma or other, diabetes,

         14  for example, it would have been reasonable to argue

         15  that more services could be put in the non-public or

         16  the public schools, or if we found out the other

         17  way, in the non-public schools, but driven by the

         18  health information that we have about both systems,

         19  we thought that numerical equity and equal share

         20  would have been an appropriate way to do it, based

         21  on enrollment.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: But that

         23  discussion was only had when you came in in August

         24  and somebody said we've got to find a way to cut

         25  this program.
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          2                 Commissioner Frieden was here during

          3  the budget discussions earlier that year and never

          4  raised the issue or quote/unquote fairness or

          5  parity. My point to you is simply this: The issue of

          6  parity was discovered or unfolded or brought out

          7  when someone said we have to find a way to cut this

          8  budget, let's go to this idea of parity.

          9                 Let me ask you this: If I have a

         10  school in my district, a public school, which I have

         11  that has 400 children and they have one nurse, and

         12  then I have another school that has 800 children,

         13  and they have one nurse, that's two public schools,

         14  that's an unfair situation, because the children in

         15  the 800-student school, public, under your analysis,

         16  are being treated in disparity to the others, so how

         17  are you addressing that?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I think

         19  that may be a good point, and I think that may be

         20  what the Chair was raising and the notion of equity

         21  by school size, and I think that what you're

         22  pointing out is that within the public school

         23  system, the way we have allocated nurses up to now

         24  has been to put a nurse in each school, regardless

         25  of size, and we certainly will look at --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: So that

          3  doesn't apply for the non-public --

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: We

          5  certainly will look at, we will certainly look at

          6  the idea of reducing nursing services in the smaller

          7  public schools.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Isn't it

          9  correct that the Department made a decision early on

         10  that we don't like this program and we're going to

         11  concoct a way to cut it, and they fell upon this

         12  numerical parity idea and that's what has been

         13  parited for the last two years for the reasons to

         14  cut this program, and it has nothing to do with a

         15  proper analysis of access to health care.

         16                 Isn't it correct that parity was

         17  landed upon only as a way to cut this program

         18  because Commissioner Frieden and those in the

         19  Department of Health, don't like the fact that

         20  public dollars are being used to put nurses in

         21  non-public schools; isn't that correct?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: That is

         23  not correct.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Everybody, no

         25  booing, no clapping.

                                                            63

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 Hang on one second.

          3                 No booing, no clapping. We're just

          4  going to try to keep a level of decorum with this

          5  proceeding. Thank you.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Council

          7  member, you're right, at a time when a budget is

          8  under pressure, we look at our budget more

          9  carefully. That is a fact. When we scrutinize the

         10  budget, we noted these inequities in the allocation

         11  of resources between the public and non-public

         12  school system.

         13                 But we did not make up those

         14  inequities, they are actual inequities, and they are

         15  ones which we found in a time of budget crisis

         16  unsustainable. And that is simply a fact. I would be

         17  happy to review with you the numbers on which we

         18  base this assessment.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Sure. And I

         20  appreciate that. But let me ask you this:

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member,

         22  can I just jump in for one second? I'm sorry.

         23                 Doctor, Commissioner, I never know

         24  what to call the people from the Department of

         25  Health when they're both, I'm going to go with
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          2  doctor.

          3                 Did you say you were going to leave

          4  this hearing and contemplate cutting nursing in

          5  smaller public schools? Because I thought I heard

          6  you say that and some of my colleagues agree and

          7  people are shaking their heads.

          8                 Did you really say that?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: What I

         10  was responding to was Council Member McMahon -- I

         11  never know how to pronounce your name, but now I've

         12  learned -- noted that there are public schools that

         13  have 400 kids and have one nurse, and public schools

         14  that have 800 kids and have one nurse, public

         15  schools that may have more than 1,000 kids but have

         16  one nurse, and it may be that we can allocate those

         17  nurses more wisely across the public school system.

         18                 In other words, reduce nursing

         19  services in smaller public schools.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: So then I should

         21  take that -- I just want to be very, very, very,

         22  very, very, very, very clear.  The Department of

         23  Health and Mental Hygiene came to this hearing today

         24  on June 2nd, and at about 11:20 said that the

         25  Department is going to consider further reducing
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          2  nursing services in our public school.

          3                 That is what you said. I would like

          4  that confirmed in writing by the end of business. I

          5  would like the budget document that corresponds with

          6  that, so I can see the unit of appropriation you're

          7  taking this money from.

          8                 If you misspoke, which I hope,

          9  because this topic can get heated and sometimes

         10  people misspeak in the middle of heated

         11  conversations, please clarify that, either now, if

         12  you can, or later in writing.

         13                 But otherwise, we need to know how

         14  the budget is changed, and if the finance staff can

         15  please notify our finance staff to alert them that

         16  we may need another restoration line in the budget,

         17  in our internal document.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I want

         19  to assure you, Madam Chair, that I'm not talking

         20  about cutting the budget. I'm simply talking about

         21  the issue of deployment within the system.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: But if you're

         23  talking about, if you were talking about pulling

         24  nurses out of the smaller public schools to redeploy

         25  them elsewhere, that is a decrease potentially in
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          2  service, so are you planning on making any changes

          3  in the nursing levels in our public school, beyond

          4  what was noted in the '04 Executive budget?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I'm

          6  simply talking about the issue of deployment of the

          7  nurses that we have in our system now. We have about

          8  670 nurses in elementary schools, in the public

          9  school system, and I think what Council has raised

         10  is whether they're deployed most logically.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: That is absolutely

         12  not what my colleague has raised.

         13                 My colleague meant in no way, shape

         14  or form, trust me, to indicate, nor do I think he

         15  did, that nurses should be pulled from smaller

         16  public schools.

         17                 So, if your response is to follow up

         18  and meet something you think the Council wants,

         19  there is confusion. That is not what Council Member

         20  McMahon indicated.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: My point

         22  was only that a small school was, perhaps one with

         23  under 200 students, that has a daily nurse, we

         24  should perhaps look at the notion that a larger

         25  school, one with over 750 children, get more of that
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          2  nurse's time than the small public school.

          3                 This is something that I think is a

          4  reasonable notion to do. That's the deployment of

          5  nurses across the system. I'm not talking about

          6  reducing the number of nurses. I hope I've made that

          7  clear.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Well, you've made

          9  some things clear. It's not entirely clear.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: It's not

         11  an entirely clear idea, you're right.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Perhaps.

         13                 I would like to request then written

         14  clarification from the Department on your plans to

         15  redeployment. Today is Wednesday, if we could get

         16  that by the end of the week, since you're not saying

         17  it's a clear budget thing, and then I'd like to have

         18  a meeting, you know, the end of this week or the

         19  beginning of next week, for you to take us through

         20  your redeployment plans, how that affects staffing

         21  and we need to know if that has a budget component,

         22  because I'm deeply troubled that this hearing might

         23  yield the result of some students losing nurses, and

         24  we certainly don't want to allow that to happen.

         25                 So, we will follow up on that letter
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          2  by Friday, and then either a meeting by Friday or

          3  the beginning of next week.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 Sorry about that, Council Member

          6  McMahon.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you,

          8  Madam Chairwoman.

          9                 I just would like to, for my

         10  colleagues, pursue one other area, and then I know

         11  there are other questions, because I think we

         12  clearly understand the impasse of the difference of

         13  opinion that we're at.

         14                 Doctor, what does a school nurse do?

         15                 DR. PLATT: I'm glad you asked that

         16  question, because I think that part of the different

         17  perspective on equity is in fact related to what we

         18  view as the primary mission of the nurse in school.

         19                 To the extent that we view the nurse

         20  primarily as an emergency staff person, somebody who

         21  is there to protect students from emergency, I think

         22  the logic that there should be one nurse in every

         23  school is hard to argue with.

         24                 In fact, the Department historically

         25  has not viewed that as the primary purpose of the
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          2  nurse in school. We believe that in true emergency

          3  situations, a nurse is sort of false reassurance,

          4  and the best thing for a child is really to trigger

          5  9-1-1 or to have other people in the school be

          6  prepared to deal with certain kinds of emergencies.

          7                 The tradition of the School Health

          8  Program, in the Department of Health and Mental

          9  Hygiene, is that it has been a public health program

         10  designed to improve the health of school children

         11  over time by finding children with chronic

         12  illnesses, help to see that those illnesses are

         13  managed, dealing with preventable health problems,

         14  such as those that can be prevented by proper

         15  immunization and so on.

         16                 I think that is part of why there are

         17  two groups of people in this room who look at this

         18  issue differently. Is the nurse primarily there to

         19  deal with emergencies? Or is the nurse primarily

         20  there to deal with chronic problems and public

         21  health kinds of issues, which in fact has been the

         22  traditional position of the Department.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Do nurses, if

         24  there's an emergency situation now, do school nurses

         25  intervene?
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          2                 DR. PLATT: Our advise now is that for

          3  true emergencies, the right thing to do is call

          4  9-1-1, that it is a mistake, that it is a -- it can

          5  actually be harmful to the child to say we have a

          6  child here who is very, very, very seriously ill,

          7  let's go find the nurse. The right thing with a

          8  child who is really having a very severe asthmatic

          9  attack, or a severe reaction, allergic reaction, is

         10  to give a child epinephrine, if that's what the

         11  child needs, that's something that can be done by

         12  any adult, and then to call 9-1-1.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I don't know

         14  how to do it. I don't know how to give epinephrine.

         15  And teachers don't give it.

         16                 DR. PLATT: This I think is at the

         17  heart of the debate. If your child is in a classroom

         18  that is a couple of hundred yards away from the

         19  nurse's office, you don't want to wait for that

         20  child, the child with a known severe allergy, to

         21  wait to get all the way to the nurse's office. And

         22  after all, the nurse is entitled to a lunch hour,

         23  there has got to be a whole emergency plan.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Doctor, what are

         25  you saying the child would be administered?
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          2                 DR. PLATT: Epinephrine. Epinephrine.

          3                 The whole procedure of delivering

          4  epinephrine is designed for a layperson to do. It is

          5  a lay procedure.

          6                 I mean, the child --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: So, who

          8  better to teach the teachers, and you testified the

          9  maintenance staff, and everybody else in the school,

         10  how do do that? Who should teach them how to do it?

         11                 DR. PLATT: Oh, there is no question

         12  that they should be taught. But that doesn't require

         13  a full-time presence of a nurse year-round to teach

         14  teachers how to deliver an emergency medication.

         15                 I want to be clear about this. There

         16  are legitimate arguments on both sides of this

         17  issue. We are doing the best we can with the funding

         18  that we have received.

         19                 You asked me, given the funding that

         20  we have received, should we plan a program around a

         21  very rare incident where a child might need

         22  epinephrine, it could be administered by somebody

         23  else in the school if they had a certain amount of

         24  training, because it's administered by the parent at

         25  home, you know, 18 hours out of 24 every day, and

                                                            72

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  two days out of every seven a week because that's

          3  where the child is, if you have to make a choice

          4  what should we be using the staff for. Our view is

          5  that the primary driving factor in this program

          6  should not be emergency coverage, but should be the

          7  overall long-term health of the child. And I think

          8  that is the difference in perspective.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Does that

         10  include the administration of medications?

         11                 A lot of children today take daily

         12  medications. I have visited school nurses' offices

         13  and they have a whole bin of medication that they're

         14  monitoring and administering, that certainly would

         15  need a professional to do, isn't that the case?

         16                 DR. PLATT: That is correct.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And other

         18  children need daily injections, especially diabetic

         19  children; isn't that correct?

         20                 DR. PLATT: That is correct.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And even in

         22  the case of someone who needs an epinephrine pin, or

         23  has a peanut allergy, even a teacher has a heart

         24  attack, or if there is some sort of emergency

         25  situation with the fear of terrorism that we have

                                                            73

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  with all the things that are going on, isn't it

          3  correct that a nurse in the building is certainly

          4  better and could save lives than not having a nurse

          5  in the building? Is that fair to say?

          6                 DR. PLATT: No, not in my judgment.

          7                 I think that is in part the

          8  difference in perspective. If a teacher has crushing

          9  chest pain and falls down, the answer is not to get

         10  the nurse. The answer is to call 9-1-1. That's the

         11  key here.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: You mean to

         13  tell me, and it's not better to call 9-1-1 and maybe

         14  have the nurse come in who knows CPR and keep the

         15  person alive until the EMTs get there? That's not

         16  better? Come on. We're talking about life and death

         17  here. Let's not talk about politics and policy.

         18                 You mean to tell me, Doctor, that

         19  it's not better to have a trained medical

         20  professional on the scene than not to have it?

         21                 DR. PLATT: We could have a doctor in

         22  every building. The question of --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: We're not

         24  talking about doctors in every building.

         25                 DR. PLATT: I understand that.

                                                            74

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: We can have,

          3  and what we're going to have is a nurse in every

          4  building.

          5                 DR. PLATT: It's a question of

          6  resources. I'm not saying it's bad. I'm saying what

          7  is the relative benefit, to the best of my knowledge

          8  we have not had a single child die in a public or

          9  non-public school this year. Not one, since

         10  September.

         11                 I may be wrong about that, but the

         12  issue is you provide many, many --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Are you

         14  willing to guarantee that it will not happen in the

         15  future?

         16                 DR. PLATT: No.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Then I don't

         18  think we should make statements like that. We should

         19  thank God that it hasn't happened and we're risking

         20  that, every day we're rolling the dice and we

         21  shouldn't be.

         22                 DR. PLATT: You roll the dice in many

         23  kinds of ways. There simply isn't enough money to do

         24  every good thing that the school health program and

         25  the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene would
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          2  like to do.

          3                 There are choices that have to be

          4  made. I understand that you feel very strongly that

          5  the choice that should be made here is to put a

          6  nurse in every school. I'm simply trying to express

          7  to you the view of the Department, that given the

          8  resources available, we can in the long run save

          9  many more lives and make many more children healthy

         10  by doing other kinds of things. That's all.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Okay.

         12                 Well, certainly I think you summed up

         13  that we disagree with that very, very strongly. And

         14  I can't imagine that you can stay here with a

         15  straight face and say that it is not better to have

         16  a trained medical professional in the building --

         17                 DR. PLATT: I don't think I said that,

         18  sir.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: To describe

         20  parity as a numerical factor and not access,

         21  physical access -- I mean, let me just ask you one

         22  question: Do you not see the difference between

         23  parity based on per capita, versus parity per, as

         24  described by actual access?

         25                 Do you understand my point? 750

                                                            76

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  children could be in the building and have one

          3  nurse. They have access to a nurse. Four-hundred

          4  children are in another building, 300 children are

          5  in another building a mile away, and the nurse goes

          6  daily from building to building; do you honestly say

          7  that that is parity?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I think

          9  you're making the argument, Council Member, that we

         10  consider the school a unit, not taking into account

         11  its enrollment.

         12                 The question, parity, you're saying,

         13  would be established by having a nurse in every

         14  school, and not take into account the enrollment at

         15  that school.

         16                 We've made the argument that parity

         17  should be just based on enrollment, and I don't know

         18  whether --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Would you see

         20  no difference in those two scenarios, access versus

         21  non-access?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I think

         23  at the heart of this it's a concern about how we

         24  handle emergencies, and I think that we would be

         25  derelict if we didn't make it clear to everybody
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          2  here, not only in schools, but in your life, in your

          3  home, in your workplace, if you come across somebody

          4  who is in need of immediate medical assistance,

          5  don't go looking for a doctor or a nurse, call

          6  9-1-1. If it should happen in this room now, the

          7  best thing to do would be to call 9-1-1.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: You mean if I

          9  have a heart attack and there's a nurse in the room

         10  and she knows how to work Council Member Oddo's AED

         11  defibrillator, she should wait until the EMTs come,

         12  or she should try to save my life? Or he.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I'm

         14  saying the first thing to do is to call 9-1-1.

         15  That's what I'm saying.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: That still

         17  doesn't answer my question.

         18                 Do you think it's parity to have a

         19  nurse in the building, or not to have a nurse in the

         20  building? Do you define as parity to not have access

         21  to a nurse?

         22                 We've answered it. I'm told my time

         23  is up. Thank you, Doctor.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member

         25  Oddo. And we've been joined by Council Member Vinnie
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          2  Gentile of Brooklyn.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Madam

          4  Chair.

          5                 I'm going to start with the last

          6  point that Councilman McMahon just made.

          7                 Dr. Platt, I'm intrigued by your

          8  attempts to define the value or benefit of a school

          9  nurse, and I think that's open to interpretation.

         10  But I think the issue is, is there a value in having

         11  a school nurse in every school, and the answer is

         12  yes. And what we're trying to debate here is not the

         13  value of that nurse, but the fact, I think that's

         14  not debatable, but the point is we've established

         15  that there is a value, whatever it might be, and we

         16  want to see that value in each and every school.

         17                 I think, and I said it in my opening

         18  remark, that the essence of this is the

         19  Administration's disturbing definition of parity,

         20  and fundamental services in New York City, there are

         21  countless examples of where government spends

         22  disproportionate, be it per capita or whatever, on

         23  some folks, disproportionately on some folks than

         24  others. It happens all the time in New York City.

         25                 Let's talk about subsidizing
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          2  transportation. We subsidize express bus riders,

          3  subway riders, ferry riders differently. We pay

          4  firefighters not by, and I know this might be a very

          5  difficult analogy for this Administration to

          6  understand, but we pay firefighters not based on the

          7  number of fires they fight. We pay a guy in Staten

          8  Island differently than a guy in another borough,

          9  but we pay them to be a safety net.

         10                 You know, to hear this Administration

         11  talking about this insistence on fairness on equity

         12  and parity in terms of providing City services,

         13  well, if the Administration was going to seek parity

         14  across the board it's going to be a holy war because

         15  we treat people differently, depending on the

         16  situation.

         17                 When it comes to fundamental

         18  services, the notion of parity dollar-for-dollar

         19  goes out the window. The heart of the matter is

         20  providing that service to achieve that end.

         21                 So, it's interesting that this

         22  Administration has chosen school nurses in

         23  non-public schools, as the beginning of this war to

         24  give parity throughout the City.

         25                 There are countless, countless,

                                                            80

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  countless examples of how we treat people

          3  differently and we spend different amounts of money.

          4  So, it's truly amazing.

          5                 And I think to understand the

          6  rationalization of this Administration, you have to

          7  look at the language. And I have to say this,

          8  Doctor, this is my sixth budget. Thanks to people

          9  like Peter Vallone, Sr., and Gifford Miller, I've

         10  brought back more than $8 million in capital dollars

         11  to our public schools. I've given them hundreds of

         12  thousands of dollars for our public schools. Chris

         13  Quinn, Andy Lanza, Jim Gentile, Peter Vallone have

         14  spent an inordinate amount of their budgets on

         15  public schools. So, you have to understand when the

         16  hair on the backs of our necks stand up, when we

         17  hear testimony that makes it sound as if we want to

         18  do the children of public schools a disservice.

         19                 Let me walk you through some

         20  language, so you understand where we're coming from.

         21                 November 8th, 2002. This is Dr.

         22  Frieden's testimony. It talks about how we spent

         23  $130 per student in private schools, compared to 65

         24  in public schools. Private schools with much smaller

         25  student populations were receiving a much greater
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          2  nursing intensity. This is unfair to public

          3  elementary schools.

          4                 In fact, we are correcting what would

          5  otherwise be discrimination against public school

          6  students, to ask public school children to sacrifice

          7  public health care to provide disproportionate

          8  service to private schools is unjust.

          9                 The statute would deny public school

         10  students the same health services as private school

         11  students. To propose in a time of budget crisis that

         12  we direct scarce resources disproportionately to

         13  private school students is not justifiable, and here

         14  is the cu de grau, and here is what I want to ask

         15  you: "There are services that are provided by the

         16  Public Health Department with public taxpayer money,

         17  especially in time of fiscal austerity. It is

         18  crucial that we avoid spending scarce resources on

         19  special privileges for some groups at the expense of

         20  others."

         21                 Do you believe what Commissioner

         22  Frieden believed in November of 2002, that providing

         23  a school nurse to little Jonny Smith at St. Mary's

         24  school in Staten Island is giving him, or giving her

         25  special privileges?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: If we

          3  put a nurse in every non-public school and a nurse

          4  in every public elementary school, we'll end up

          5  spending $2 for every $1 that we spend in the public

          6  school system.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Yes, you will.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: And that

          9  is a fact.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Yes, we will.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Now, you

         12  are arguing that that's equitable. And I would

         13  remind you that the public schools deserve over a

         14  million children in this City who have many, many

         15  needs. They are overwhelmingly poor and from ethnic

         16  minority groups. Only 15 percent of children who

         17  attend public elementary schools are white. So, 85

         18  percent of those students in public schools are

         19  black, Latino and from other ethnic minorities.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Yes, okay. And

         21  your point is?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: My point

         23  is the simple facts, Council member, that we will be

         24  spending more money.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And the parents
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          2  in this room are happy to use their tax dollars to

          3  go to public school to provide those children with

          4  the services they get.

          5                 So, you're saying it's worse, it's a

          6  bad thing, we are moving -- it is worse to have a

          7  higher ratio in non-public schools of nurses to

          8  students than to have in some non-public schools no

          9  nurses at all. We are moving closer to parity by not

         10  having a school nurse in St. Charles on Tuesday,

         11  than having a higher proportion of health care

         12  providers for those schools. That's moving closer to

         13  parity. That's what you truly believe?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I'm

         15  talking about equity based on the numbers of

         16  students in each system, Council member.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Your definition

         18  of parity, this Administration's of parity, is

         19  simply wrong.

         20                 We want parity of outcome. We want to

         21  know that when our kids get sick, there's somebody

         22  there to help them, and it's truly mind-boggling to

         23  have you come here and play this division game.

         24  You've played it public school to non-public school,

         25  you just tried to play a race card of sorts, and
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          2  it's absolutely insulting. It's absolutely

          3  insulting.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I just want to

          5  jump in. The Minority Leader is very graciously

          6  going to allow Council Member Vallone to jump in and

          7  ask a couple of questions because Council Member

          8  Vallone has to go to something related to the Public

          9  Safety Committee, and then we're going to come back

         10  to Council Member Oddo.

         11                 And I just want to underscore, I

         12  found the playing of a race card particularly

         13  offensive in this. I mean, we are trying to cover

         14  the needs of the public and the non-public school

         15  students, and if you intended to indicate somehow

         16  that this Committee is more concerned about the

         17  health of white children over children of color, I

         18  would urge you to look at the Committee's record,

         19  because we have done yeoman's work in protecting the

         20  health of all children, and particularly the needs

         21  of children of color, and I'm going to hope you did

         22  not mean to indicate that of the Committee or its

         23  members.

         24                 Council Member Vallone.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you,
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          2  Council Member Quinn.

          3                 Council Member Oddo, thank you very

          4  much. I think this is what's called a "standing

          5  eight count" for our witnesses.

          6                 I have ten minutes on the inequities,

          7  the absurdity of your inequity argument, but I'm

          8  going to skip that and let Council Member Oddo get

          9  back to that.

         10                 I'm outraged by your race card, but

         11  I'm also outraged by the fact that you attempted,

         12  you just admitted before, under oath, I believe,

         13  that you attempted to do a study to show that public

         14  school kids got sick more than private school kids,

         15  and unfortunately, for you that didn't pan out, did

         16  it? Because if that did, that's what we'd be hearing

         17  about today. That would be your justification, not

         18  this ridiculous inequity rule that you came up with.

         19  But you spent taxpayer money, to try to justify the

         20  Commissioner's personal beliefs, which is

         21  outrageous.

         22                 Let me go to the one argument, one

         23  argument that we can actually discuss here is the

         24  cost of this.

         25                 You probably realize that in order
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          2  for private schools to hire more nurses, and I sat

          3  on the private school board for ten years, they have

          4  to raise tuition.

          5                 You probably also realize that

          6  private school attendance is down. My grammar school

          7  where I went to is down to one class a year to have

          8  three classes.

          9                 You probably also realize that if we

         10  do raise tuition again in the private school to hire

         11  nurses that more kids won't be able to afford it and

         12  will go into an already overwhelmed and overburdened

         13  public school system. Have you factored that cost

         14  in? The cost of all the kids that would come from

         15  the private schools into the public schools based on

         16  yet another tuition increase into your equation

         17  anywhere?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: No.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you,

         20  Council Member Oddo.

         21                 Continue.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: May I

         23  just say, that I understand that this is a difficult

         24  topic for all of us and we're trying to express our

         25  views in as reasoned a way as we can, and then I

                                                            87

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  have simply tried to tell you facts. I'm not trying

          3  to do anything else than show you the facts on which

          4  we've based our reasoning.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay, I don't

          6  think that was you attempting to clear the record

          7  and say you did not mean to indicate that I cared

          8  more about white children than children of color.

          9  But the comment is noted that you were trying to

         10  elaborate us on the facts. My point was not to

         11  question that -- I don't disagree that what you said

         12  about the make-up of the public schools is factually

         13  correct. What I take exception to is the point I

         14  think you were trying, was what I think the point of

         15  that comment was, which I take personal offense to.

         16                 I think you were trying to indicate

         17  that this Committee and its members are more about

         18  white school children than school children of color.

         19                 If that was not what you were saying,

         20  then I apologize for misunderstanding. But if it was

         21  not what you were saying, I would appreciate you

         22  clarifying that for the record. Because though the

         23  Department and I have frequently disagreed,

         24  sometimes at points aggressively, sometimes at

         25  points in the press, neither of us have ever said
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          2  things like that to each other. Perhaps today is a

          3  new day, but if that's not what you meant to say of

          4  myself or my colleague, Council Member Oddo and

          5  others, I would appreciate that you clarify it, if

          6  you're able.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Let's

          8  agree that all of us are committed to all New

          9  Yorkers of all races, all incomes, all religions.

         10                 I'm also pointing out that the

         11  enrollment in the public schools has a different

         12  composition than the enrollment in the non-public

         13  schools.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member

         15  Oddo.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Let me just say,

         17  Madam Chair, for the record, that I know the

         18  socioeconomic make-up of the public school children

         19  of this City, and the day I need anyone from the

         20  Bloomberg Administration to teach me anything about

         21  government or public policy is the day I'll hand in

         22  my resignation.

         23                 I wish you luck and Council Member

         24  McMahon luck in negotiating with this

         25  Administration, and I look forward to September 20th
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          2  in voting in favor of this bill.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member

          4  Lanza.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Thank you,

          6  Madam Chair.

          7                 Just let me start with, by your own

          8  logic then, your policy is discriminatory toward

          9  white people. That's absurd. This is disgraceful.

         10                 I can't tell you how much I

         11  anticipated being present at this hearing today

         12  because I couldn't wait to hear which of the five

         13  excuses that have been used by the Department of

         14  Health and Commissioner Frieden over the last two

         15  years that you were going to use as the

         16  justification today. I couldn't imagine, though,

         17  that you would come up with a new excuse which is

         18  that of race. It's very appalling, especially as we

         19  celebrate the anniversary of the Brown versus Board

         20  of Education policy.

         21                 Your, let me tell you, your policy

         22  here is nothing more than discrimination. And I'm

         23  happy, though, that you've settled on this parity

         24  excuse today. Because in fairness I think it more

         25  closely represents the true justification here,
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          2  which is nothing more than discrimination. And it's

          3  also the most, I think, easily defeated. So, let's

          4  go to it.

          5                 If you're so concerned, if you've got

          6  this obsession with numeric parity, and you talk

          7  about the fact that the old policy would spend $2 of

          8  taxpayer dollars to every $1 of taxpayers' dollars

          9  for non-public, your policy, now, what would you say

         10  the cost of one school nurse in a school is?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: About

         12  $50,000.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Fifty-thousand

         14  dollars. So, you were concerned about spending $2 in

         15  public schools, $2 in non-public schools for $1 in

         16  public schools, and now you support and defend the

         17  policy that would spend at the very minimal $50,000

         18  in the public school and zero dollars, zero dollars

         19  in a non-public school; how is that parity?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Let's

         21  make clear that we've established parity on a

         22  systemwide basis. So, what we've done is looked at

         23  the public schools as a system, all of the students

         24  enrolled in the public schools constitutes the total

         25  number of kids served by all of the nurses providing
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          2  services in those schools.

          3                 Then for the non-public schools we

          4  did the same. All of the schools that had requested

          5  services, which don't constitute the whole universe

          6  of non-public schools, those constitute the number

          7  of kids served by that system, and when we apply the

          8  same nurse to student ratio, we got the number of

          9  nurses provided to the non-public school system.

         10                 So, we're talking about parity

         11  systemwide.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: I know that

         13  you're talking about it in that way because that is

         14  the most convenient way to sell this piece of

         15  discrimination that there is.

         16                 I mean, Councilman Oddo brought up

         17  the fact that there are fewer fires in Staten Island

         18  than perhaps in the Bronx, but no one is suggesting,

         19  or I hope that we don't hear that today, no one is

         20  suggesting that we don't have a single firehouse out

         21  on Staten Island.

         22                 The only way that you can honestly,

         23  honestly discuss this dishonest excuse of parity is

         24  to ensure that you talked about it at a school

         25  level, not a per child level, at a school level. But
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          2  if you want to talk inequity, let me ask you this

          3  question: What is the entire budget for your

          4  Department in the City of New York?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: You're

          6  talking about the Department of Health?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Yes.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I think

          9  it's about 1.4 million?

         10                 DR. PLATT: 1.4 billion.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: 1.4

         12  billion.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: How much of

         14  that do you spend, I happen to represent Staten

         15  Island, how much of that do you spend on Staten

         16  Island?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I don't

         18  have that number, but certainly it's available.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Given your

         20  obsession with numeric parity, you should know that.

         21  So, I'll tell you. You spend less per person on

         22  Staten Island than you spend per person in the rest

         23  of the City. Are you going to redress that?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I'm

         25  thinking about what you're saying, and I'm thinking
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          2  about the remarks I've made regarding health, and

          3  need, and the notion of equity.

          4                 I don't think that, and I think your

          5  point is are you, is the Health Department making an

          6  argument for sort of mechanical equity, are we

          7  saying that the same dollar figure should be spent

          8  on every single person in this City by neighborhood,

          9  by, you know, by any variety of demographic

         10  indicators that we might come up with, and I

         11  wouldn't support that approach to equity.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Well, let me

         13  just tell you that you do spend more money per

         14  person in this City off of Staten Island than you

         15  do, that's another one of your, that would seem to

         16  satisfy your obsession with parity, so that it would

         17  seem to me that you should fix that.

         18                 Let me talk about another inequity as

         19  you said a number of times today.

         20                 The taxpayers. Let's not forget where

         21  this money comes from, the taxpayers of this City

         22  spend in excess of $12,000 to educate each student

         23  in public school. Do you know how much they spent to

         24  educate each student in non-public school? Zero.

         25  That's an inequity. That's an inequity, and I happen
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          2  to be of the belief that we ought to fix that. We

          3  ought to address that.

          4                 So, please, do not come to us today,

          5  do not come to us today with this ridiculous notion

          6  and this contrived excuse that somehow this is based

          7  on fairness, because equity is synonymous with

          8  fairness, and when you tell us that some kids

          9  deserve a nurse and other kids do not, that is

         10  unfair.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Thank

         12  you.

         13                 I can just reiterate that we can

         14  consider the population of children served by the

         15  public schools and the population of kids served by

         16  the non-public schools, and we look at the resources

         17  that we've allocated to nurses in those schools

         18  across those two systems, and look at the amounts

         19  that we spend on each student for those services,

         20  and that's the way we look at equity.

         21                 Now, we never did any research, you

         22  know, a large study, to look at the health of the

         23  two populations. This is just based on existing

         24  records, on our own records of medication

         25  administration across the two systems, we know that
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          2  the non-public schools serve many disadvantaged

          3  kids, served kids of all races, all incomes and that

          4  they need an important need in the community.

          5                 We don't have any evidence, though,

          6  that either children in either system have greater

          7  health needs than the other, and for that reason we

          8  make the argument that children should be served on

          9  an equitable basis based on enrollment.

         10                 Now, that's the way that we see it. I

         11  certainly don't think that the Council in advocating

         12  for more services to the non-public schools is

         13  trying to serve the interest of any ethnic group or

         14  another, and Council Member --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I was just going

         16  to say, we don't yield -- that's your assertion, we

         17  don't agree with you that we're advocating for more,

         18  we think we're advocating for fairness. But I know

         19  that's how you see it, but I just wanted to be clear

         20  for the record, that we're not in agreement with you

         21  from that perspective.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Right.

         23                 Well, I'd also like it to be clear

         24  for the record that I, in no way, intended to imply

         25  that the Council is trying to use any notion of race
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          2  or income as a way of allocating resources.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you. Thank

          4  you, Commissioner, for that clarification.

          5                 We now have a question from, I was

          6  going to say Commissioner Gentile --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Maybe some

          8  day.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Yes, Council

         10  Member Gentile.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Thank you,

         12  Madam Chair.

         13                 And I join my colleagues in decrying

         14  this unconscionable, unconscionable issue of health

         15  care parity, and the discussion and the exclamation

         16  we had today. I won't belabor the point because it's

         17  been talked about a great deal, except to say this:

         18  When the Administration comes here and says you

         19  determine health care parity on a systemwide basis,

         20  that's not how we live our lives.

         21                 Health care is not dispensed on a

         22  systemwide basis, and parity, to determine health

         23  care parity on a systemwide basis doesn't do us any

         24  good, doesn't do the parents out there or the

         25  children, any good when you determine that it's done
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          2  on a systemwide basis.

          3                 Now, we talked about the emergency

          4  situations, whether it be asthma or some other

          5  situations. I won't belabor that point because I

          6  think it's been covered here, but I want to ask

          7  about something, about more common situations, that

          8  happen probably more often. When the children are

          9  taken out to play, when they go out to the school

         10  yard to play, or in the school to play, whether in a

         11  gymnasium, and they scrape their knee and their knee

         12  potentially becomes infected or they have a fracture

         13  or something, are you suggesting that because there

         14  is no nurse there, are you suggesting that in that

         15  situation, instead of having a nurse who could

         16  attend to the situation clean out the knee, make

         17  sure that it doesn't become infected, are you

         18  suggesting that instead the school call 9-1-1.

         19                 DR. PLATT: No, I'm not suggesting

         20  that the school call 9-1-1 for a child with a

         21  scraped knee.

         22                 On the other hand --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: But you would

         24  agree with me that had there been a nurse there, a

         25  nurse, and this happened to me when I was a kid, the
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          2  first thing that happened to me when I had a knee

          3  that was bleeding and could become infected, sent to

          4  the nurse. Nurse cleaned it out with whatever she

          5  used, she cleaned it out, and prevented infection.

          6                 You would agree with me, had there

          7  been a nurse being there is in a better position to

          8  treat that child than someone else?

          9                 DR. PLATT: I would just point out

         10  that if that injury happened, I would ask the

         11  question what would happen if that injury occurred

         12  at home? And my feeling is that in most such

         13  situations that would be a function of a parent or

         14  another adult who is seeing the child.

         15                 And the question, therefore, is in a

         16  time of scarcity, at a time when we have limited

         17  resources, do we want to spend money to have a nurse

         18  clean up a knee, rather than have somebody else

         19  clean up a knee?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: When you're

         21  talking about a parental situation, it's a lot

         22  different when you have custodial situations in a

         23  school building, and having teachers or other school

         24  personnel tend to a health care matter. That's a lot

         25  different when a parent is at home attending to
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          2  their own child.

          3                 Here we are, we're in a custodial

          4  situation in a school building with faculty members,

          5  teachers who are not trained in health care and may

          6  not be parents themselves. We're in a situation

          7  where we have administrators. This is a custodial

          8  situation, not a parent to child situation,

          9  completely different.

         10                 So, to make that analogy is really

         11  disingenuous, because having someone who is not

         12  related to the child, tend to the child in that

         13  situation, who is not a health care professional is,

         14  to me, outrageous.

         15                 DR. PLATT: Well, I just want to point

         16  out as a practical matter, there are only so many

         17  resources. My understanding of this bill, for

         18  example, is that it does not mandate nurses for

         19  schools with less than 200 students. So, in a school

         20  with 150 students, if a child goes outside and

         21  scrapes their knee, somebody is going to clean up

         22  that child.

         23                 I don't think this is an absolute

         24  situation here. This is a situation where we have to

         25  decide what the best use of resources.

                                                            100

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: And I think

          3  the reason why this bill is drafted in that way is

          4  because the new Administration is demanding some

          5  kind of concession on terms of the numbers of

          6  students. Enrollment should not determine,

          7  enrollment should not determine whether or not a

          8  scraped knee is cleaned out. To me, and what I'm

          9  hearing here is that, and if in a custodial

         10  situation in a school, where a teacher or someone on

         11  the supervisory staff doesn't feel competent to help

         12  a child in that situation, the only other option

         13  they have is to call 9-1-1 and overburden the 9-1-1

         14  system in that situation.

         15                 I see no other option here, if that's

         16  the case. And I'm just not talking scraped knees, if

         17  there's a fracture, or some other situation that

         18  short of calling 9-1-1 that a nurse can actually be

         19  helpful, without that nurse your option is without

         20  faculty feeling comfortable in doing that, to call

         21  9-1-1.

         22                 And, again, we come down to this

         23  issue of parity, and these non-public school

         24  parents, as Councilman Lanza said, are taxpayers

         25  also. They are taxpayers also. They pay into the
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          2  system. And to have their children put in a

          3  situation like that where it's up to the custodial

          4  situation, custodial teacher in a custodial

          5  situation to take charge and administer some health

          6  care rather than a nurse seems to me another example

          7  of this Administration not understanding the

          8  concerns of the people, particularly the people who

          9  send their children to non-public schools.

         10                 It is beyond me to think that they

         11  drop their children off knowing that there is no

         12  nurse or no nurse available to them should something

         13  happen. To me, again, it is just an example of the

         14  disregard that this Administration has.

         15                 Madam Chair, I'm done. Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you. I have

         17  a couple of clean-up questions with the

         18  Administration.

         19                 Is there a written policy governing

         20  how often non-public school administrators must ask

         21  for a nurse or by what deadline?

         22                 I mean, do you indicate to them in

         23  writing how it is they could access a nurse?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I don't

         25  believe so.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Is there any type

          3  of dialogue in writing, or otherwise, with the

          4  non-public schools about the availability of

          5  nursing, nurses?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Well,

          7  there is a non-public school committee with which we

          8  meet, and they are representatives of different

          9  communities of non-public schools, and I assume that

         10  they communicate to their schools.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: But you don't

         12  know.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I'm not

         14  aware of any deadlines.

         15                 DR. PLATT: Can I just clarify this?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: You're not exactly

         17  aware of how they communicate, nor have you set a

         18  standard for how you'd like the communication to

         19  occur?

         20                 DR. PLATT: Yes, let me just try to

         21  clarify that.

         22                 I think the non-public schools

         23  contact us when they want a nurse because they have

         24  a child who they believe meets the criterion for

         25  getting more than the standard level of service.
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          2                 We met last September and will meet

          3  again this September with the Non-public School

          4  Committee --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: When you say us,

          6  Doctor, do you mean DOE or DOH?

          7                 DR. PLATT: DOH I meant.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay.

          9                 DR. PLATT: We met last September with

         10  the Non-public School Committee and we will meet

         11  with them again this September, because until

         12  September we really don't know where we stand. That

         13  given the Department's current policy, which is that

         14  there is a fixed number of nurses for the non-public

         15  schools, we have to look at the number of schools

         16  that, for example, have children with

         17  insulin-requiring diabetes mellitus, and then based

         18  on the needs that we feel we must meet, we sit with

         19  this group and we review a proposed method for

         20  assigning nurses and they agree or disagree and we

         21  wind up coming to some consensus about that.

         22                 Within the number of nurses that the

         23  Department has agreed to assign to the non-public

         24  schools. So, that's the process.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: And then how they
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          2  communicate that you don't know for sure.

          3                 DR. PLATT: That's right. We rely on

          4  the Committee to communicate to the non-public

          5  schools.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: The Committee is

          7  who?

          8                 DR. PLATT: I don't know that I have

          9  all of the members, but I certainly know that it

         10  includes representatives from the New York

         11  archdiocese, the Brooklyn diocese, the Lutheran

         12  schools, Agudath Israel, and others.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: If you could send

         14  us a copy of the Committee, that would be useful.

         15                 DR. PLATT: Yes, it's not our

         16  committee. There is an organization that --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: That's fine. But

         18  you meet with them.

         19                 DR. PLATT: We'll get a copy of the

         20  official list and send that to you. Sure.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Do you know how

         22  many public primary or intermediate schools

         23  currently have a medical room equipped for a nurse?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I can

         25  get that number for you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay, that would

          3  be great.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: No, I

          5  mean I have it right here.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Oh, okay, great.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I know

          8  that there are 111 non-public schools that don't

          9  have a medical room. The number of public elementary

         10  schools without a medical room I'd have to get to

         11  you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay, that would

         13  be great.

         14                 Can you tell us what the Department

         15  is doing to recruit and retain school nurses?

         16  Obviously, the nursing shortage is an issue of

         17  national significance, but could you tell us what

         18  the Department is doing particular to school nurses?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Sure.

         20                 DR. PLATT: We are actively

         21  recruiting, and have been now since January. We've

         22  had newspaper advertisements.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: What newspapers?

         24                 DR. PLATT: New York Times.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Any of the weekly
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          2  paper, borough papers, ethnic newspapers.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: We'll get back to

          4  you. The only one I can confirm today is the New

          5  York Times.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay.

          7                 DR. PLATT: We are going to certain

          8  campuses and actively recruiting.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Which ones?

         10                 DR. PLATT: I'll have to get back to

         11  you --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay.

         13                 DR. PLATT: -- With that list.

         14                 We are also trying to, and I think

         15  this is very important, if we can do it, trying to

         16  renegotiate the existing Perb Agreement (phonetic)

         17  between New York City and the United Federation of

         18  Teachers and DC 37. That Perb Agreement results in a

         19  certain level of inefficiency in program, and we are

         20  hoping to reach agreement with the respective unions

         21  to change that to as a result have some funds

         22  available to provide better benefits for the nurses

         23  and hope that will also help with recruitment.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: We're definitely

         25  not going to go there today on the issue of
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          2  renegotiating the contracts.

          3                 Summer school nurses. Is it correct

          4  that the Department is presently still planning on

          5  eliminating summer school nurses from the general

          6  population?

          7                 I know that you reiterated in a press

          8  release following our hearing on the Executive

          9  Budget that you were going to follow the law and

         10  provide IEP students and 504 qualifying students

         11  nurses, which is, give or take, about 300. So, that

         12  said, I'm not looking for confirmation about that,

         13  because you did it in writing with your press

         14  release. What I'm looking for is confirmation or any

         15  notification of a change in as it relates to the

         16  funding for summer school nurses in the general

         17  population, is that money still being eliminated

         18  from the budget or have you moved to restore that

         19  funding?

         20                 DR. PLATT: We have not moved to

         21  restore that funding.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay. Hang on one

         23  second.

         24                 Okay, that was all the clean-up

         25  questions we had. Thank you very much.
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          2                 We're now going to call up -- Oh, I'm

          3  sorry, could you just hang on one second before you

          4  all move.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Real quick,

          6  if I could just add, do you have the manual as to

          7  the duties and responsibilities of a school-based

          8  nurse? Is there a written manual?

          9                 DR. PLATT: We can get that for you,

         10  yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Could you

         12  provide that to the Committee Chair?

         13                 DR. PLATT: Certainly.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you.

         15                 Thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

         17                 Okay, I'm going to call up the next

         18  panel.

         19                 Barbara Bortle-Gainey. I'm sorry if I

         20  mispronounce people's names.

         21                 Mary-Ann Perry.

         22                 Patrick Bahnken, the President of the

         23  EMS Union, so we might get a little clarification on

         24  how we should act on emergencies.

         25                 Gloria Acevedo of DC 37; and Carmen
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          2  Santana, who is the parent of an asthmatic public

          3  school student, and also with the Commission on the

          4  Public Health System.

          5                 So, if those five folks could move up

          6  to the witness stand, we need one more chair. And

          7  then I just want to say, they'll be followed by, the

          8  next panel after this one, so you can be ready, the

          9  Colonna kids, Zolita Herrera, Martha Toleso, Rabbi

         10  Zweibel. You know, we'll have a little more

         11  clarification in a second. I can't read my own

         12  handwriting, even though I went to Catholic School.

         13  Sorry. But we'll work on that for the next one.

         14                 Okay, great. So why don't we start

         15  with Ms. Bortle-Gainey, please. Why don't you start.

         16                 If the light is off, the mic is on.

         17  And just make sure before you start to testify, you

         18  identify yourself. And we're just going to, I just

         19  want to repeat, it's going to be the Federation of

         20  Catholic Parents and the Federation of Catholic

         21  Teachers, then Mr. Bahnken from the Union, then

         22  Gloria, and then Carmen. And if you have written

         23  testimony that's long, just you don't have to read

         24  it, you can submit it to the record.  If you want to

         25  sum it up, or add anything else, that's fine,
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          2  because you're testimony will be part of the record.

          3                 MS. BORTLE-GAINEY: Good afternoon. My

          4  name is Barbara Bortle-Gainey. I'm the President of

          5  the Staten Island Federation of Catholic School

          6  Parents.

          7                 This year the Staten Island

          8  Federation of Catholic School Parents, through our

          9  dedicated delegates, has kept the issue of securing

         10  full-time nurses in the forefront of our agenda.

         11                 I personally have worked very closely

         12  with our Councilman, especially Mike McMahon's

         13  office, Zolita Herrera, the Staten Island District

         14  Superintendent of Catholic Schools, Mary-Ann Perry,

         15  the President of the Federation of --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Can you just hang

         17  on for a second?

         18                 For the folks in the back of the

         19  room, if you could please take conversations out

         20  into the hallway. I'm sorry, it's just a little hard

         21  to hear the witnesses. Thank you very much.

         22                 MS. BORTLE-GAINEY: -- And Gloria

         23  Acevedo, the President of the United Federation of

         24  Nurses.

         25                 I would like to outline to you, I
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          2  would like to outline for you the problems that we

          3  have encountered with the City's Department of

          4  Health and the Mayor's Office so that we can all

          5  better understand that the City Council is our only

          6  hope of permanently ensuring that nurses are

          7  restored in our non-public schools.

          8                 Our first meeting of the school year

          9  in October, Councilman McMahon, Oddo and Lanza, and

         10  Mrs. Herrera, were invited to discuss our course of

         11  action. They all attended.

         12                 Dr. Frieden, as Commissioner of

         13  Health for the Department of Health was also

         14  invited. I was informed that he had a scheduling

         15  conflict.

         16                 On September 19th, I wrote to his

         17  office again and asked for a representative from his

         18  office who could answer our questions to attend our

         19  meeting.

         20                 On September 25th, I received a phone

         21  call from Dr. Bassett. Dr. Bassett told me flat out

         22  that there would be no new allocations of funds for

         23  nurses in our schools.

         24                 I then asked Dr. Bassett why the City

         25  spent $1.5 million of City tax levy dollars in
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          2  Fiscal Year 2003, for a free nicotine patch program,

          3  a program that does not have a very good success

          4  rate.

          5                 The September 11th, 2002 issue of the

          6  journal of the American Medical Association

          7  concluded that, "since becoming available

          8  over-the-counter, nicotine replacement therapy

          9  appears no longer effective in increasing long-term

         10  successful cessation in California smokers."

         11                 I also asked Dr. Bassett if that

         12  money came from the same pool of money that the

         13  school nurse budget comes from. She was not able to

         14  give me an answer.

         15                 I then questioned Dr. Bassett as to

         16  who she thinks should take care of our children,

         17  should they require medical attention while in

         18  school. She told me that a secretary, a teacher or a

         19  principal could administer medication or treat a

         20  child in need a care. And while we love our

         21  secretaries and our teachers and our principals, I

         22  assured her that should a child be having an

         23  anaphylactic reaction or a seizure, as parents we

         24  would expect and demand that the City provide us

         25  with nurses to handle our nursing needs.
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          2                 In April of 2002, the Deputy

          3  Commissioner for the State Education Department

          4  issued guidelines for the administration of

          5  medication in the school.

          6                 Section 4, subsection 8.2 states,

          7  "any prescribed medication which requires

          8  administration through a subcutaneous,

          9  intramuscular, intravenous or rectal routes, or

         10  prescribed medication being administered through

         11  pumps, tubes or nebulizers, or oral, topical or

         12  inhalant medications needed by non-self-directed

         13  students, must be given by school nursing personnel

         14  or licensed practical nurses under the direction of

         15  school nursing personnel.

         16                 Administration of such prescribed

         17  medications may not be performed by school staff."

         18                 In October 2003 I wrote to Dr. Platt,

         19  the Assistant Commissioner for the Bureau of School

         20  Health. I asked him for a job description of the

         21  Department of Health school nurse.

         22                 I also questioned the fact that our

         23  schools were receiving shipments of medical room

         24  durable medical equipment, and was this equipment,

         25  which was useless to us without a school nurse to
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          2  use them, being purchased with money allocated by

          3  the City Council for the nurses themselves.

          4                 Beginning in Fiscal Year 2001,

          5  funding was allocated to support a daily nurse in

          6  every private school for the appropriate medical

          7  room that requested such service.

          8                 He e-mailed me back almost

          9  immediately telling me that supplies and not

         10  equipment were being sent to the schools. I assured

         11  him that I knew the difference, and that we had

         12  durable medical equipment in our medical room, and

         13  that we wanted the full-time nurses to go with it.

         14                 Health Commissioner Dr. Thomas

         15  Frieden has a new plan called "Take Care of New

         16  York," which is a proactive attempt aimed at

         17  education and prevention for ten health care issues.

         18                 At a City Council Subcommittee on

         19  Health Meeting that was held in 2003 on Staten

         20  Island, Dr. Frieden spoke along the same lines about

         21  education as a preventative tool for asthma, tobacco

         22  use and other various health problems.

         23                 He emphasized that children

         24  especially needed to be educated early on.

         25                 As outlined in the City of New York,
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          2  the Department of Health job description for a

          3  school nurse, "providing health education for

          4  students and staff in schools," is part of the role

          5  of the nurses in our schools.

          6                 When questioned why he felt justified

          7  in taking away our educational resource, Dr. Frieden

          8  could not give an answer.

          9                 When our full-time nurses were first

         10  cut from the budget, a City that couldn't afford it

         11  was an answer given by the Mayor's Office and the

         12  Department of Health.

         13                 However, it seemed increasingly clear

         14  that perhaps the City feels it does not have the

         15  responsibility to provide these full-time services

         16  to non-public school children.

         17                 In a testimony before the New York

         18  City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene on

         19  November 8th, 2002, Dr. Frieden was asked what the

         20  Department's positions on Intro. 296 is, which was

         21  the original bill in City Council. I will read his

         22  answer.

         23                 "Intro. 296 would require that a

         24  daily nurse be placed in all public elementary and

         25  intermediate schools and in all private schools upon
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          2  request.

          3                 This would require the hiring of

          4  approximately 400 more nurses, and would cost the

          5  City between 15 and 20 million dollars more each and

          6  every year.

          7                 Even if we could find the money, it

          8  is almost certain that we would not be able to find

          9  nurses to fill these positions.

         10                 But more importantly, increasing the

         11  budget for private schools would have to come at the

         12  expense of other critical public health programs.

         13                 This statute would deny public school

         14  students the same health services as private school

         15  students. To propose that in a time of budget

         16  crisis, we direct scarce resources

         17  disproportionately to private school students is

         18  unjustifiable.

         19                 These are services provided by the

         20  Public Health Department of public taxpayer money.

         21  Especially in a time of fiscal austerity, it is

         22  crucial that we avoid spending scarce resources on

         23  special privileges for some groups at the expense of

         24  others, end quote.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I'm sorry, could I
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          2  just ask you, in deference of time, if you could try

          3  to sum up the rest of your testimony?

          4                 MS. BORTLE-GAINEY: Sure.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: That would be

          6  great. Thank you.

          7                 MS. BORTLE-GAINEY: I will just say my

          8  comment about Dr. Frieden's testimony.

          9                 I am the mother of two boys and I

         10  personally find it offensive that Dr. Frieden

         11  considers my children's health while they are in

         12  school as a special privilege.

         13                 I am also a working taxpayer, which

         14  means that my taxes support the public school system

         15  and the Department of Health nurses, and if parents,

         16  such as myself were to take our special privileges,

         17  and enroll them in the public school system, we

         18  would cripple the public school system.

         19                 Personally, I find it amazing that

         20  the Commissioner of the Department of Health is

         21  allowed to let his bias against a non-public, which

         22  means Catholic, Jewish, Lutheran, the non-public

         23  children dictate policy for the State of New York --

         24  for the City of New York.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very
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          2  much. That was a good note to end on.

          3                 Go right ahead. You can just drag

          4  that over. Thank you.

          5                 MS. PERRY: Okay. Is it on?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I think so.

          7                 MS. PERRY: Good afternoon. I am

          8  Mary-Ann Perry, President of the Federation of

          9  Catholic Teachers, representing teachers in the

         10  Archdiocese of New York, some in Brooklyn and

         11  Queens, and by virtue of the fact of being a

         12  long-time teacher, I hope I speak for all of the

         13  non-public school teachers in this City and voice

         14  their concerns.

         15                 First of all, let me thank Councilman

         16  McMahon, Quinn and Oddo, for their passionate

         17  defense of our most vulnerable children, for all of

         18  you to maintain the health and safety of children in

         19  the City, all of them, you're doing a wonderful job.

         20                 I'm not going to talk about the

         21  number of children involved, because I think the

         22  superintendents had better speak to the vast

         23  numbers, hundreds of thousands of children really

         24  that you don't realize are affected.

         25                 But I'd like to say, in 2001, the
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          2  Department of Health began getting nurses in our

          3  schools because of the medical needs of our

          4  children. A health professional on-site could

          5  provide the needed care for the chronically ill

          6  children in the school every day, as well as deal

          7  with medical and accidental emergencies, in

          8  buildings with 200 to nearly 900 children, in grades

          9  pre-K three year-olds to grade eight, in every

         10  neighborhood in this City, sickness and accidents

         11  are daily occurrences.

         12                 We are not even talking about all the

         13  other functions that the nurse provided,

         14  preventative measures, record checking, health

         15  education, and also I mean just as a comment that I

         16  had to make, can you imagine an eighth grade teacher

         17  trying to deal with a student with a problem of

         18  obesity? He'd rather talk to his teacher than a

         19  nurse? Just absurd. Okay.

         20                 This did not change last year when

         21  the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene began

         22  reducing nursing services in most of our schools by

         23  determining varying criteria to get around what we

         24  thought was the mandate of the City Council.

         25                 In my school that I taught at for
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          2  many years alone, we're talking about a school with

          3  nearly 800 children, there were ten peanut allergies

          4  requiring epi-pens. Thirty-five children with asthma

          5  inhalers and nebulizers, three bleeding disorders,

          6  including a hemophiliac, and three people on cardiac

          7  supervision. That's a tremendous need. And the

          8  nurse, we eventually did get that nurse back full

          9  time, but it was first taken away a few days a week.

         10                 Another point I'd like to make that

         11  is kind of off the track: Back in October we were

         12  talking about vulnerable schools with populations in

         13  poverty. Well, they were the schools that were the

         14  most hard hit by the reductions.

         15                 In October, I'm looking at a list of

         16  19 schools in areas that have more serious health

         17  problems in our City and are most prone to the

         18  problems of poverty. St. Charles Barmay on 142nd

         19  Street, St. Luke's on 139th Street and St. Ann's on

         20  Bainbridge Avenue. These are just examples. These

         21  schools were down to two days a week. St. Francis,

         22  St. Lucy in a similar area told me the other day,

         23  they have a small population, they have 23

         24  asthmatics.

         25                 So, it seems to me that the equity
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          2  that we should be talking about should be to meet

          3  health needs and not enrollment.

          4                 It was obviously, the health needs of

          5  the children were obviously not a priority for our

          6  children or even for the public school children in

          7  summer school. No child in the City should be

          8  deprived in the service to which they are entitled

          9  by yet another formula.

         10                 The loss of nursing services leaves a

         11  void that teachers and administrators cannot fill.

         12                 We are not trained medical

         13  professionals, we are not equipped to deal with

         14  serious and medical conditions. There are many

         15  chronically ill children struggling to remain in

         16  school, as they battle childhood cancer, diabetes

         17  and so so many with severe asthma.

         18                 They need a nurse on site not a mile

         19  away, only available on Tuesdays.

         20                 As with the Department of Ed, whose

         21  teachers are mandated not to be using nebulizers and

         22  asthma medicines, neither should our teachers be.

         23                 Children having serious asthma

         24  attacks, diabetic complication or hurt in serious

         25  accidents need more than a comforting word. They
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          2  need immediate help and someone with the expertise

          3  to assess and deal with the emergency.

          4                 If you have ever been unsure about

          5  whether to call 9-1-1 in an emergency, how can you

          6  ask teachers to have to make that decision for

          7  someone else's child and bear the responsibility for

          8  the outcome.

          9                 Without a nurse in each school every

         10  day, our children are being put at risk, which we as

         11  teachers find unacceptable.

         12                 Our parents and our teachers deserve

         13  what the rest of the country and state can take for

         14  granted - the peace of mind of knowing that their

         15  children have a nurse in their school each day, and

         16  they will receive adequate care and not be placed at

         17  risk. Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

         19                 Pat, go ahead.

         20                 MR. BAHNKEN: Good afternoon, Chairman

         21  Quinn, and members of the City Council.

         22                 I've got to tell you, I'm sorry I

         23  didn't have any prepared testimony today, but I

         24  really hadn't planned on testifying here. I was in

         25  the other chamber for a separate committee hearing
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          2  and just happened to come outside and hear a

          3  response to a question from Councilman McMahon,

          4  regarding what to do in the event of a cardiac

          5  arrest at a school where the staff will be told to

          6  call 9/11.

          7                 And I've got to tell you, as a

          8  paramedic for almost 20 years and advanced cardiac

          9  life support certified paramedic and certified in

         10  pediatric advanced life support by the American

         11  Heart Association, that has got to be about the

         12  dumbest thing that I have ever heard in my entire

         13  professional career.

         14                 There will be more people who will

         15  die this year from sudden cardiac arrest, from

         16  reversible sudden cardiac arrest, than will die in

         17  fires, in homicides combined. And the single most

         18  mitigating factor to survivability is the early

         19  intervention of qualified personnel. Nurses are

         20  medical professionals who are taught to react in a

         21  situation such as a sudden cardiac arrest. Or as I

         22  said, I'm also certified in pediatric advanced life

         23  support. These are the same certifications that

         24  every emergency room physician in the City of New

         25  York must be certified in. And one thing, the first
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          2  thing they teach you in a pediatric advanced life

          3  support class is that when children stop breathing,

          4  that is a very late sign. Respiratory arrest in a

          5  child is almost always irreversible. That is why we

          6  are very aggressive in maintaining a patent airway

          7  in a pediatric asthmatic patient.

          8                 We must intubate a patient, a

          9  pediatric patient much more quicker or much sooner

         10  than we would an adult patient, because when the

         11  child stops breathing, they are more respiratory

         12  dependent than they are cardiac dependent. So, when

         13  they stop breathing, they stay most of the time

         14  stopped breathing.

         15                 Now, we have ambulances every single

         16  day at schools throughout this City. The nurses

         17  provide for us the rapid assessment and

         18  stabilization to any patient. If your child falls

         19  off some climbing bars or falls down a flight of

         20  stairs, an untrained person might go up and say, you

         21  all right? Stand up. Walk it off. That's all well

         22  and good, except for one problem. If there is any

         23  type of pressure building on the spinal cord, a

         24  nurse will know to stabilize that patient, maintain

         25  actual stabilization and notify the 9-1-1 system so
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          2  that we can come and immobilize that child, because

          3  once you sever the spinal cord, you're done. You're

          4  done. Everything below that level is gone. Never to

          5  come back again. You don't believe me? Ask

          6  Christopher Reeves. Ask Christopher Reeves. We're

          7  talking about children here. There is no Mulligans,

          8  there are no do-overs, there's no second chances.

          9                 And I have to tell you, if we can

         10  find billions of dollars to propose sports stadiums,

         11  and we can find billions of dollars to propose

         12  Olympics in this City, we can't find 12 lousy

         13  million dollars to provide adequate and appropriate

         14  patient care to our children? This is ridiculous.

         15                 This is a multi-billion dollar agency

         16  and we can't provide nurses to our sickest children.

         17  There are children in schools every day who have

         18  pressing medical needs as the prior speaker just

         19  said. An ambulance, unless you have one sitting

         20  right outside in the best case scenario, with core

         21  processing time, et cetera, it's going to be about

         22  seven minutes out. Try and hold your breath for

         23  seven minutes.

         24                 I strongly support that this Council

         25  pass this legislation. It is not only important, it
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          2  is essential. The idea that no child has luckily

          3  died yet, what does that mean? What does that mean?

          4  If it's your child, you know, you're kind of glad

          5  that that preventive measure is taken. And I

          6  certainly, if my child is going to be in school, I

          7  don't want to wait until my child or some other

          8  child dies before somebody starts taking the issue

          9  seriously.

         10                 So, I thank you for the opportunity

         11  to testify here today, and if you have any

         12  questions, please let me know.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very

         14  much, Pat. You were a big help. I didn't realize the

         15  hearing was going to get into such a slightly absurd

         16  level about emergency response, so we were very

         17  lucky that you were next door in the other meeting,

         18  and I very much appreciate you waiting, because I

         19  think it adds a lot to the record, given

         20  particularly where the testimony went this morning,

         21  and you can rest assured we will be back in touch

         22  with questions. But thank you very much.

         23                 Gloria.

         24                 MS. ACEVEDO: Good afternoon,

         25  Councilwoman Quinn, honorable Committee members.
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          2                 As you know, we have been here

          3  before. I am Gloria Acevedo. I represent New York

          4  City public health nurses, from 436 United

          5  Federation of Nurses and Epidemiologists.

          6                 Well, there was a lot of things that

          7  I had wanted to say. Pat, thank God, has covered a

          8  lot of them.

          9                 You have my testimony. I just want to

         10  touch on some of the things that were said here

         11  today that really kind of got us a little upset. But

         12  one of the things is going back to the fact of not

         13  having a nurse in the school. I know what it is. I

         14  know of a child that died because the nurse had been

         15  there til 1:00 and the child around 2:45, the child

         16  was running around in the track and the child fell.

         17  There was nobody there to administer first aid, CPR.

         18  The child died. So, I know what it is not to have a

         19  nurse in a school. Had that nurse been there longer

         20  -- where was she? She had been sent to another

         21  school.

         22                 So, nurses are sent from one school

         23  to another. Sometimes we need roller skates to get

         24  from one place to another, and I can attest to that

         25  because I had done it.
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          2                 But one of the things, it is so

          3  important, that nurse -- teachers should teach,

          4  that's what they are there for. Leave them do their

          5  job. Principals should be in charge of schools, they

          6  should not be responsible to give children

          7  medications or observe if anything happens to them.

          8                 I've literally gone into schools and

          9  they've pulled out a draw and you would be surprised

         10  the amount, especially in a non-public school,

         11  pulled out the draw and see how many medications are

         12  there, expired medications. These teachers, the

         13  staff, the secretaries, were supposed to give these

         14  medications because they didn't have a nurse. But

         15  you're telling me that you don't need a professional

         16  registered nurse to administer these children?

         17                 Dr. Bassett made a comment of what

         18  are we going to do with those PHAs if they put

         19  nurses in the school. Let me tell you, there's

         20  plenty of them to do (sic). Nurses are doubling up

         21  on work. They're behind paperwork because these PHAs

         22  have been removed -- I'm sorry, Public Health

         23  Assistants, which are responsible for our clerical

         24  work. The nurses are so busy trying to input in

         25  computers and taking care of the paperwork, that
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          2  will give you less time to take care of what you

          3  have to do.

          4                 Okay, parents should be able to go to

          5  work or be home if they're sick and no that if their

          6  child is sick, that there is somebody there that

          7  cares.  We not only administer band-aids and hugs,

          8  yes, are hugs are important too, because children

          9  also need to know that they're loved as well.

         10                 My thing is, let the nurses do their

         11  job, let the teachers do their job. They should not

         12  be subject to losses because they're giving a child

         13  the wrong medication.

         14                 Thank you so much. Another thing

         15  also, we have found that immunizations, a lot of

         16  parents have not fulfilled that responsibility of

         17  the children. Well, a lot of these nurses picked up

         18  those lack of immunizations. The measles do not stop

         19  at the school door. There was an outbreak in some of

         20  the non-public schools. So, you're telling me that

         21  we don't need nurses in every single school in New

         22  York City? I don't think so.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 And Carmen, if you can go. And we

          3  know, for the record, that you are a parent. Because

          4  usually it's not you testifying, it's usually your

          5  son testifying.

          6                 MS. SANTANA: Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: But we didn't give

          8  you enough notice to get him out of school so we're

          9  sorry.

         10                 MS. SANTANA: I'm sorry. But he had

         11  his two cents this morning.

         12                 Hi, everybody. My name is Carmen

         13  Santana. I am a parent, a proud parent of a

         14  13-year-old who is in middle school, public middle

         15  school, seventh grade. Cameron Gonzalez is his name.

         16                 Cameron is a chronic asthmatic, with

         17  a nebulizer both at home and at school. He is also,

         18  he also has a heart murmur. So, I like very much

         19  what Pat said, because it's very, very important to

         20  understand that when children lose their air, I mean

         21  kids will tell you I can't breathe, what does that

         22  mean? It means run, don't walk, get that child some

         23  help.

         24                 My concern is that, and this was

         25  reiterated before as well, and I'm going to
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          2  reiterate it again, but New York City public schools

          3  currently have approximately 1.1 million children,

          4  1,200 schools. Can I tell you that not all of those

          5  schools have nurses? We're talking about the public

          6  school system here, okay? Not every school has a

          7  nurse. High schools don't have nurses. Does that

          8  mean that when Cameron becomes 16 and goes to high

          9  school that his asthma is cured, he no longer needs

         10  a nebulizer? Can I tell you also that parents of

         11  children of public school system are discouraged,

         12  not encouraged, to not bring in nebulizers to the

         13  schools because of what was said early on, that

         14  someone, a professional, has to be provided to

         15  administer treatment with those machines in the

         16  schools. And if you talk to some of the parents of

         17  children in public schools, they're told that

         18  children should carry their inhalers, their

         19  inhalers, and after two puffs, have a glass of

         20  water, that that is similar to a treatment on a

         21  nebulizer.

         22                 So, when you talk about providing

         23  nurses, let's take a quick look at the 1,200 schools

         24  across the City of New York that serve 1.1 million

         25  children. Some of the neediest children of the City
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          2  here, where some of these children are, and I'm not

          3  going to go into a whole bunch of detail, come under

          4  Title 1, meaning that they're entitled to a lot of

          5  services in those schools, get a lot of money. This

          6  is a multi-billion dollar a year business, and if

          7  nothing else, our children should be ensured that

          8  they have a nurse in each and every school,

          9  regardless.

         10                 I'm troubled as an advocate of

         11  education and health of what I heard. And a lot of

         12  parents have spoken about institutionalized racism.

         13  Did I hear right correctly before? Because it's very

         14  troublesome. And this is a public forum, are we

         15  opening up a discussion to institutionalize racism?

         16  Is there a differences?

         17                 Could I also tell you that I'm also a

         18  catechist, and I am a product of the public, private

         19  parochial school and a victim of the public school,

         20  so in my opinion, I say, and I am here to talk to

         21  you about the children in the public school system,

         22  all 1.1 million children, who are entitled to a

         23  nurse in each of the 1,200 schools. Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you, all,

         25  very much. And thank you for being here for the
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          2  whole hearing.

          3                 We're going to call up the next group

          4  of folks which are here.

          5                 Zoilita Herrera. Martha Tassiello.

          6  I'm sorry for mispronouncing your names. Alessia

          7  Colonna, Marisa Colonna and Kellie Kolessar, and

          8  Rabbi David Zwiebel.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: The children

         10  had to leave I think.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Oh, I'm sorry. We

         12  will note that they were here for the record.

         13                 Just give those to the Sergeant,

         14  Rabbi.

         15                 Sorry, is Carol Pittman from the New

         16  York State Nurses Association, if she could come up

         17  to fill out the panel, and Chris Proscia, is he or

         18  she still here? Okay, great, why don't you join the

         19  panel then.

         20                 Ms. Herrera, why don't you get

         21  started? Go right ahead. Just identify yourself for

         22  the record.

         23                 MS. HERRERA: Hi. I'm Zoilita Herrera,

         24  District Superintendent for the Catholic Schools on

         25  Staten Island.
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          2                 I'm here today also representing the

          3  schools of the Archdiocese of New York, and a good

          4  number of other non-public schools in the City.

          5                 You have my testimony, so I'll just

          6  point out a few of the issues.

          7                 When Mayor Giuliani's Administration

          8  first put the money into the budget, it was to

          9  provide coverage, so that every school with at least

         10  100 students and a medical room would receive a

         11  full-time nurse.

         12                 It has since become an issue of

         13  parity. And somehow when school started in September

         14  of 2002 and I was informed by a reporter at the

         15  Staten Island Advance that the Department of Health

         16  was going to cut all of the nurses in the non-public

         17  schools, I was notified a week later by the regional

         18  office and told that that was not the case.

         19                 The schools where there was students

         20  with, quote, serious health risks, which was those

         21  with convictions requiring daily medication other

         22  than oral during the school day. Some had the

         23  Department of Health identify schools that had

         24  students with diabetes, and made the determination

         25  that these students were to receive full-time nurses
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          2  due to their serious health risk.

          3                 The medical needs of children in our

          4  schools and children with asthma, allergies, who

          5  require inhalers, nebulizers, as others have said,

          6  these children, unfortunately, did not meet the

          7  serious health risk criteria for the Department of

          8  Health.

          9                 I'd like to tell you about two

         10  incidents that occurred on Staten Island just in the

         11  last month alone. You had two serious medical

         12  emergencies in two of our schools. They warranted

         13  the immediate attention of a nurse, and luckily

         14  those schools had a full-time nurse in place because

         15  there was a student in the school with diabetes.

         16  Although the nurses were not placed in the school to

         17  care for the students who needed immediate

         18  attention, they were able to act swiftly and

         19  promptly.

         20                 Principals, teachers and secretaries

         21  are not trained professionals and would probably not

         22  be able to respond appropriately, nor should they be

         23  put in a position of caring for a child in the

         24  medical emergency.

         25                 Although the children had to be
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          2  transported to the hospital by ambulance, you can

          3  ask the parents of these children how grateful they

          4  are to have had a trained professional take

          5  immediate action to care for their child.

          6                 As a parent with a child with

          7  diabetes, one of these children needed immediate

          8  attention. It was a kindergarten child newly

          9  diagnosed with diabetes who went into insulin shock,

         10  and the nurse was called, administered one glucogon

         11  shot, and the child did not respond. The nurse made

         12  the determination to administer a second glucogon

         13  shot before the ambulance even arrived. When the

         14  ambulance took the child to the hospital, one of the

         15  things the parents were told was thank God there was

         16  a nurse there to administer and who knew to give a

         17  second glucogon shot.

         18                 My daughter has been in insulin shock

         19  seven times in her life, once including when she was

         20  three months pregnant. It's not something that you

         21  can tell when it's coming on. But luckily there was

         22  someone there who knew enough that child needed a

         23  second shot.

         24                 When dealing with issues of human

         25  health, especially the health of our children,
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          2  crunching numbers is not an appropriate way of

          3  determining need. As a society we are morally bound

          4  to care for our own. I'm sure that the City budget

          5  disproportionately helps the sick, the addicted and

          6  the disabled.

          7                 We do not determine need by how much

          8  someone else is getting. We allocate resources by

          9  determining need, and children are most worthy of

         10  our resources.

         11                 Secondly, the argument that

         12  non-public school students are using twice the

         13  resources as public school students is ridiculous.

         14  Non-public school children by definition use less

         15  tax resources than their public school counterparts,

         16  as has been pointed out today.

         17                 I'd like to -- on the back of my

         18  testimony is a copy of a letter from Dr. Roger

         19  Platt. This is a response to thousands of letters

         20  from parents around the City mailed to the Mayor and

         21  Commissioner Frieden.

         22                 Apparently they have asked Dr. Platt

         23  to respond to all the parents. Some of it is

         24  accurate and other parts are downright misleading.

         25                 In his letter you will see no mention
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          2  of the huge nursing vacancies in Manhattan and the

          3  Bronx that affect our schools disproportionately.

          4  You will see no mention of how many of our schools

          5  get only a visit from a nurse one day or two days a

          6  week, a situation that would never happen in any

          7  public school, but you will once again see the

          8  Department of Health mantra that non-public schools

          9  receive twice the resources per students than public

         10  schools.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Ms. Herrera, can

         12  you just sum up, please?

         13                 MS. HERRERA: Thank you for giving me

         14  the opportunity to get some of this record. And the

         15  only thing, our demands are simple: Treat our

         16  children with the same consideration as public

         17  school children. Every child is deserving, and they

         18  deserve that much, and anything less is

         19  unacceptable. Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

         21                 Why don't you go next. Thank you.

         22                 MS. TASSIELLO: My name is Martha

         23  Tassiello. I am a permanent substitute teacher at

         24  two ethnically diverse Queens Catholic schools, Most

         25  Precious Blood and Our Lady of Mount Carmel. The
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          2  physical well-being of our students is in jeopardy.

          3                 In the classroom I am an expert at

          4  behavior management and can teach topics that range

          5  from addition to algebra, grammar to phonics, or

          6  democracy to fascist dictatorships.

          7                 In the classroom I am not an expert

          8  at assessing or addressing a student's medical

          9  needs.

         10                 As a teacher my concern is not the

         11  high probability low-risk events with which we are

         12  all familiar - a scrape needs a band-aid, a bump on

         13  the knee needs an ice pack.

         14                 Or the low probability, high-risk

         15  events, a broken arm, an asthma attack, need a call

         16  to 9-1-1, regardless of the presence of a nurse.

         17                 As a teacher my concern is the gray

         18  area. Example: A parent tells you the red bump on

         19  his preschoolers arm is a reaction to a tetanus

         20  vaccination. As the day goes on the redness and

         21  swelling worsens. Is this normal? Should I put hot

         22  or cold on the arm?

         23                 A student is displaying disruptive

         24  behavior, their pupils are dilated, you know they

         25  take medication that was recently changed, is this
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          2  behavior age-appropriate acting out, or is there a

          3  more serious problem.

          4                 If I call the parent, who will cover

          5  my class? An asthmatic student returns to class from

          6  gym sweating and breathing hard. Time passes but her

          7  face is still red. You know is asthma is

          8  cold-induced. It's the spring, so do you ask her to

          9  get her pump and use it? She's only in second grade.

         10  Can she make the judgment on her own?

         11                 A student has fallen at recess and

         12  bumps his head. There's only a small bump and no

         13  bruising. He seems fine. After a while in class you

         14  notice he isn't focusing on his work. Is this a

         15  typical activity transition problem or something

         16  more serious.

         17                 A normally diligent student is having

         18  difficulty with time management. Are they tired

         19  because they watched too much TV last night or

         20  because their new eyeglass prescription is not

         21  working out? Is it a greater eye problem? They keep

         22  rubbing their eyes.

         23                 An epileptic student with allergies

         24  falls asleep in class. Is she having a petite mall

         25  (sic) or did she take Zurtech this morning? Is it
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          2  appropriate to wake her up?

          3                 A student has a bloody nose. The

          4  bleeding will not stop with conventional methods.

          5  The parents work in downtown Brooklyn. How do I stop

          6  it? Is this due to the dry weather we've been

          7  having? Is this a sign of a bleeding disorder?

          8                 Who do I have come to help me? The

          9  teacher next door, the principal, the secretary? Or

         10  should I have a fellow first grader guide them down

         11  the stairs to the office?

         12                 As teachers we spend seven hours a

         13  day, five days a week, in excess of 30 weeks a year

         14  with our students.

         15                 While teaching we are already

         16  multi-tasking the day's activities with the lesson

         17  plan objectives. All the while, watching that no two

         18  students far behind, controlling the triangle of

         19  friends talking, should I move their seats? And

         20  deciding whether this student legitimately needs to

         21  go to the bathroom again. Which, PS, frequent

         22  urination is a sign of undiagnosed diabetes. I

         23  think. Should I talk to the parent? I wish I had a

         24  nurse familiar with each student's confidential

         25  medical records that could help me in the classroom.
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          2                 I am an expert at facilitating a

          3  positive and productive academic learning experience

          4  for students.

          5                 In the classroom I am not an expert

          6  at facilitating an appropriate response to a

          7  student's medical needs. Please help.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

          9                 Rabbi Zwiebel, you could go next,

         10  please. And you just said drag that down, it moves.

         11                 RABBI ZWIEBEL: Thank you very much.

         12  I've dragged many things down in my life.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Can you just make

         14  sure the light is off?

         15                 RABBI ZWIEBEL: Okay. Thank you very

         16  much, Council Member Quinn, Madam Chairlady, and

         17  distinguished members of the Council.

         18                 My name is David Zwiebel. I am the

         19  Executive Vice President for Government and Public

         20  Affairs for Agudath Israel of America, which is a

         21  national Orthodox Jewish Organization, and one of

         22  our functions is to represent the interest of the

         23  schools that come under the umbrella of the National

         24  Society for Hebrew Day Schools, there are about 650

         25  or so schools across the United States, and over 200

                                                            143

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  of them here in New York City alone servicing 75,000

          3  children, and they continue to grow and prosper.

          4                 I also am a member of the Committee

          5  on non-public school officials in New York City that

          6  we've heard about earlier today, and that brings

          7  together representatives of the entire non-public

          8  school population here in the City, totalling some

          9  quarter of a million students, and I think that one

         10  of the great strengths of New York City

         11  traditionally has been the diversity of the school

         12  population, the fact that there is such a

         13  substantial public population alongside a non-public

         14  school population that has been one of the great

         15  strengths of this wonderful City.

         16                 You have my written testimony. I

         17  don't think it's necessary for me to read or

         18  reiterate any of the points contained therein, and

         19  the hour is quite late. Frankly, I had hopes and

         20  ambitions about being back in the Office about an

         21  hour ago. But it was fascinating to listen this

         22  morning to the exchanges between yourselves and the

         23  witnesses, particularly the witnesses in the first

         24  panel of the City representatives, and I have to say

         25  that I'd like to just use whatever brief moment I
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          2  have now to say thank you, because I thought you

          3  guys were terrific.

          4                 It was quite an experience listening

          5  to some of the comments that were offered by the

          6  members of the Department of Health. Their notions

          7  of equitability are appalling. The idea that there

          8  is some, that there is no utility and no value in

          9  having a nurse on the school premises to deal with

         10  emergency situations is just preposterous, and some

         11  of the points that were being made insulted the

         12  intelligence I think of this Committee and certainly

         13  of the people who were in the audience listening to

         14  it, and we were kind of hoping as they were making

         15  those remarks that our elected representatives

         16  sitting on your side of the table would react as in

         17  fact you did, in pointing out some of the, almost

         18  embarrassing implications of the statements that

         19  they were making. And it was reassuring, it was

         20  reassuring not only because it says a lot about you

         21  and it says a lot about the quality of this

         22  Committee and more generally the City Council, but I

         23  think it says also, delivers to us, representatives

         24  and parents of children in non-public schools, a

         25  very reassuring message. It delivers a message that
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          2  our elected representatives understand that we are

          3  not in any way somehow a second class group of

          4  citizens in the City. We are full partners in the

          5  success of this City, in the growth of this City and

          6  that our children count as much as all other

          7  children. And the message that this bill delivers

          8  and the message that you delivered today in the way

          9  that you exposed some of the fallacies inherent in

         10  the presentations made by the members of the

         11  Department of Health, give us that very reassuring

         12  message, and, so, thank you very much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 Carol.

         16                 MS. PITTMAN: Good afternoon, Madam

         17  Chairperson, members of the Council. My name is

         18  Carol Pittman. I'm the New York City Community

         19  Affairs rep for the New York State Nurses

         20  Association. I just have a very brief statement.

         21                 The New York State Nurses Association

         22  urges the expedited passage of Intro. 207-A that

         23  would require the Department of Health to provide a

         24  full-time school nurse to every primary and

         25  intermediate school in New York City with over 200
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          2  students.

          3                 Nor should the Health Department be

          4  allowed to exclude summer session from the proposed

          5  requirement.

          6                 While the nurses who work in New York

          7  City schools are not represented by NYSNA, we do

          8  represent school nurses in other parts of the State.

          9                 The Association and its members

         10  strongly support the important work of these RNs and

         11  every school nurse.

         12                 You ask what does a school nurse do,

         13  and I've heard response from nurses and educators

         14  and many others, and I just wanted to throw in a

         15  little bit more on that from our perspective.

         16                 In addition to everything that others

         17  have said here, school nurses really provide

         18  comprehensive health care in schools where Gloria

         19  Acevedo from DC 37 as the right teachers should be

         20  allowed to teach, and nurses should help kids and

         21  their families live healthier lives.

         22                 School nurses treat children with

         23  medical emergencies, detect and report child abuse,

         24  administer medicine and monitor students responses.

         25                 They prevent epidemics of parasites
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          2  and infectious disease by performing regular on-site

          3  screenings in the City schools.

          4                 School nurses also care for children

          5  with chronic diseases, such as diabetes and asthma,

          6  and teach parents and other care-givers how to

          7  provide care at home.

          8                 So as any parent can tell you, and I

          9  am also a parent. I have two kids who are both

         10  asthmatic. They went through the public school

         11  system and actually I never did see a nurse, but I

         12  did run to school a number of times when my kids had

         13  trouble catching their breath, and I would sure have

         14  appreciated having had a health care provider there.

         15                 So, any parent can tell you how

         16  important it is to have a qualified caring,

         17  registered professional nurse on duty at their

         18  child's school daily all day, and so you will have

         19  our resounding support for this proposed

         20  legislation. It's a common sense public health

         21  policy piece.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you. If you

         23  could wrap up the panel, that would be great.

         24                 MR. PROSCIA: I didn't come so

         25  prepared.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Just say your

          3  name, please.

          4                 MR. PROSCIA: Chris Proscia.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

          6                 MR. PROSCIA: Representing St.

          7  Anselems School in Bayridge.

          8                 My wife thanks you, I thank you, and

          9  my two sons.

         10                 James Oddo, I worked with his brother

         11  as a police officer of New York City. I'm retired.

         12  And he's just as tenacious as his brother. Mr.

         13  McMahon, Ms. Quinn, Mr. Lanza from Staten Island, I

         14  have two sons in grammar school, both are chronic

         15  asthmatics, one has a severe peanut allergy where on

         16  a scale of 400 being high he's 6,000. So, if I kiss

         17  him after eating a walnut sundae he breaks out in

         18  hives and cannot breathe.

         19                 My wife is a registered nurse who has

         20  to take time off on Mondays and Tuesdays to go up to

         21  school at lunchtime just in case there is a cross

         22  contamination for my son, where not only is it a

         23  problem with the allergy, and he carries the

         24  epinephrine, is that the asthma kicks in and his

         25  throat will close like that.
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          2                 You as the math teacher, what are you

          3  going to do for him?

          4                 And now my youngest son was just

          5  tested last week, he might be insulin-dependent. He

          6  also suffers from febrile seizures, when he gets a

          7  fever. What do we do? This is good against evil.

          8  These people sat up here and it was disgusting. This

          9  was like the Knapp Commission. You know, in a court

         10  of law I could have convicted them on the malicious

         11  way that they misrepresent themselves and the City.

         12                 It is unconscionable that I have to

         13  worry. Thank God that I live two blocks from school

         14  and then I'm retired and then I'm home.

         15                 My wife is out doing her visiting

         16  nursing, that the best that I can do is, you know,

         17  get my son out of school. Yes, we could all fix a

         18  kid's scraped knee, but when a kid hits his head and

         19  a nurse knows to look into a child's eyes to see if

         20  pupils are dilating, does he have, is he having

         21  convulsions, is he having a seizure, you don't know

         22  that, I don't know that. Yes, then we'll call 9-1-1,

         23  but the nurse needs to be there, end of story, there

         24  is no question. Get a nurse in every school, if it's

         25  300 kids or 3,000, at least get one nurse in there

                                                            150

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  for now and then we'll worry about later on two.

          3                 My daughter goes to a public high

          4  school in an honors program in Fort Hamilton,

          5  there's five-, six-thousand kids in that school. We

          6  have to do something, and, again, my wife thanks all

          7  of you because if it wasn't for you people, another

          8  group of people, it just may have went away in the

          9  wind.

         10                 Again, thank you.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I just want

         12  to thank you. But keep in mind that we also have to

         13  thank the people who are sitting at the table with

         14  you, and all those who are here who kept this issue

         15  up for us. And we are, you know, you should know for

         16  your children and for your wife we'll keep pushing

         17  on this. And you and I really have a bond because we

         18  know what it's like to work side-by-side by one of

         19  the Oddo brothers. And one day you and I are going

         20  to sit down and maybe have a beer and cry on each

         21  other's shoulder, and I'm sure Council Member Lanza

         22  will join us.

         23                 Thank you very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you all very

         25  much for testifying and for staying.
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          2                 We now have to do a little bit of

          3  housekeeping because we are probably going to have

          4  to, there's another hearing happening in this room

          5  in a few minutes, so we are going to need to go

          6  across the street? Oh, we can apparently stay.

          7                 But let me just try to get a sense of

          8  who all is still here so we know how many more folks

          9  we have. So, just if I call your name put your hand

         10  up.

         11                 Paul. You're here, okay. Before I

         12  butchered your name.

         13                 Anthony Biscione. Okay, you're still

         14  here.

         15                 Peggy Casey. Okay. Lilly Mirkov.

         16  Okay. Corinne DiStephan? Okay.

         17                 So, why don't those folks I just

         18  called come on up to the witness table. And then I

         19  just want to see. These folks, if I called you, come

         20  on up. But I want to see who is here of this list.

         21                 Lynn Leotta. Did I call Maria

         22  Marchiano? Is she here? She left, okay.

         23                 Patrick Monitello. You're here, okay.

         24  Just stay there. I just want to get a sense.

         25                 Linda Paradiso. Okay. Elena Brady.
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          2  Okay. Thomas Chadzutko. Sorry I'm saying that

          3  incredibly wrong. Jacqueline Bell. Denise Wine.

          4  Veronica Fitzgerald Calabrese. Okay. So, we'll do

          5  this panel and then we have one other person after

          6  that. So, great.

          7                 Why don't you start, sir. Thank you.

          8                 MR. BEAUDIN: Thank you very much for

          9  the invitation to be here today. My name is Paul

         10  Beaudin, and I'm the District Superintendent for

         11  Catholic Schools in the Bronx.

         12                 I represent 40,000 boys and girls in

         13  Catholic elementary and secondary schools in the

         14  Bronx and their 40,000 parents.

         15                 Approximately 75 percent of the boys

         16  and girls enrolled in our Bronx Catholic elementary

         17  schools are black and Hispanic.

         18                 They are the children of men and

         19  women who work multiple jobs in order to provide

         20  alternative educational experience for their

         21  children.

         22                 In many of our schools in the Bronx,

         23  nearly 100 percent of the student body qualifies for

         24  free or reduced federal lunches.

         25                 If your image of private school

                                                            153

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  students is one of wealthy young men and women with

          3  lots of disposable income, who are driven to school

          4  each day in the family BMW, then you have not spent

          5  a single day in any of our Bronx Catholic Schools.

          6                 I represent the principals of 76

          7  schools who joined their parents and their concern

          8  for the welfare of their children.

          9                 At the present time most of our

         10  schools have a nurse one or two days a week. Often

         11  times this nurse spends the day updating medical

         12  records and performing secretarial tasks.

         13                 There are a few schools that have a

         14  full-time nurse. Those would be the schools which

         15  for the most part have a documented case of a child

         16  who has a serious case of juvenile diabetes.

         17                 What has often happened in the Bronx

         18  this year is that if one school has a new admit who

         19  is diabetic, then nursing services are reduced at

         20  other non-public schools in order to provide the

         21  full-time nurse at the school in question.

         22                 This is done, of course, to keep a

         23  cap on the actual number of nurses within the

         24  system, rather than employing additional nurses.

         25                 In some of our schools we have
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          2  children on heart monitors or with epilepsy or with

          3  sickle cell anemia or with peanut allergies in which

          4  there is only a one-day-a-week nurse. I am most

          5  concerned, though, about the lack of full-time

          6  nurses and the incidents of asthma in the poor

          7  neighborhoods in which you find our schools.

          8                 In most of the schools which I

          9  represent, 50, 75, 100 students, have chronic asthma

         10  conditions.

         11                 We are talking about thousands of

         12  children. It would be a great benefit for any one of

         13  you to visit one of these schools during weather

         14  changes, or after gym class or during allergy

         15  season, and witness the children who fill the school

         16  office waiting for their pumps or calling home, or

         17  are being transported to pediatric emergency rooms.

         18                 In this country, 5,000 people each

         19  year die as a result of asthma-related deaths. About

         20  200 of these deaths are those of children.

         21  African-Americans are four to six times more likely

         22  to die of asthma than are Caucasians.

         23                 I have spent most of my career in the

         24  inner-city. I have accompanied enough children to

         25  emergency rooms to witness children suffering from
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          2  an acute asthma attack.

          3                 I know that without prompt nursing

          4  care that one day one of the children that I

          5  represent will be one of those 200 children who die

          6  from asthma each year in this country, and that

          7  child's face will appear on the cover of El Diaro,

          8  and the Daily News and the Amsterdam News and on

          9  that day we'll all say to ourselves we should have

         10  done something about this when we had the chance.

         11                 I want to conclude with a story from

         12  one of my principals.

         13                 She recently told me that she

         14  received a delivery of a very large box, I believe,

         15  from the Department of Health. The box was for the

         16  medical room of this school. This very large box, it

         17  seems, contained a beautiful new desk for the

         18  nurse's office. Unfortunately, there is no nurse in

         19  this school of 500 students, but the principal kept

         20  praying that inside the box was the nurse. There was

         21  no nurse in the box, though. However, if a nurse

         22  ever does arrive at that school, there will be a

         23  beautiful new desk awaiting her, courtesy of the

         24  Department of Health of the City of New York.

         25                 Thank you for the invitation to be
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          2  with you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Maybe if there is

          4  a bill signing we should do it on that desk.

          5                 You can go ahead. If I can ask folks

          6  just to try to be as brief as possible, because the

          7  other Committee is delaying their start a little.

          8  Otherwise we're going to have to go over, all move

          9  to 250 Broadway.

         10                 Go right ahead.

         11                 MR. BISCIONE: Good afternoon,

         12  Councilwoman Quinn. I have a prepared statement. My

         13  name is Anthony Biscione. I'm a principal in Long

         14  Island City, Most Precious Blood School. I'm also

         15  the representative for the Queens School to the

         16  Catholic School Administrators of New York State.

         17                 In addition to serving on the

         18  Elementary Principals Advisory Committee and the

         19  Diocese of Brooklyn. I have given you the prepared

         20  statement by our superintendent, Dr. Thomas

         21  Chadzutko, but I would like to just add some of the

         22  more, or just express some of my own feelings, as in

         23  response to what I've heard this morning.

         24                 In regard to the parity issue which

         25  seems to have gotten a lot of attention this
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          2  morning, in all due respect to Dr. Bassett's

          3  testimony, in September of 2002, without any notice,

          4  my school nurse was pulled. First day of school I

          5  arrived to find out that she would not be there. My

          6  school has a population of 600, at the time the

          7  population was 690 students. The reason given to me

          8  was not enrollment. The reason given to me was we

          9  were a Catholic school, and all non-public schools

         10  lost their nurses.

         11                 I think Dr. Bassett needs a little

         12  bit of a math lesson. She's talking about ratio,

         13  when in all due respect she's really talking about a

         14  proportion. She's trying to set a proportion based

         15  on an equality between two systems that are totally

         16  different.

         17                 The ratio we need to look at is the

         18  ratio that 207-A establishes, nurses to students,

         19  regardless of what schools they attend, the ratio of

         20  nurses to students, nurses to non-public school

         21  students, versus nurses to public school students.

         22                 I'm leaving here today with some

         23  hope, and I would thank all of you for your support

         24  today.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very
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          2  much.

          3                 I just want to say we've been joined

          4  by Council Member Simcha Felder of Brooklyn.

          5                 Go right ahead. Thank you.

          6                 MS. DiSTEPHAN: Thank you. I am

          7  Corinne DiStephan, and I represent the Lutheran

          8  Schools Association of New York City. I don't come

          9  armed with a lot of statistics. Unfortunately, I got

         10  notice of this hearing quite late, but I do want to

         11  express my thanks to this Committee. I think that

         12  you reacted and responded quite well to remarks that

         13  I considered discriminatory at best, and insulting

         14  to my intelligence at worst.

         15                 And by the way, this is part of a

         16  pattern, if I just may digress extremely briefly,

         17  whenever the City is short on funds, who gets cut?

         18  The non-public school students. Despite New York

         19  State laws that say we must provide equitable

         20  services, health services to all students in this

         21  state, we must provide equitable services in bus

         22  transportation. Do you know it took decades, decades

         23  of hard fights to finally get some equity in

         24  transportation, and it's only within the last five

         25  years, perhaps six years that we have gotten buses
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          2  free for field trips. Our parents had to pay for

          3  field trip buses, while buses were standing idling

          4  between bringing students to school and dismissing

          5  students.

          6                 I don't mean to digress but I just

          7  have to see this as part of a pattern. It continues

          8  now with health services.

          9                 As the former principal of a Lutheran

         10  School in Queens for over 22 years, I was thrilled

         11  out of my mind when finally in 2001 we got a nurse

         12  for my, and I admit it's a smaller school, for my

         13  215 students. It was a thrill. We spent all summer

         14  getting the medical room ready.

         15                 By the way, I'd like to tell, if a

         16  public school does not have a medical room, do they

         17  still get a nurse? Because the non-public schools

         18  must have a medical room to get a nurse.

         19                 Unfortunately, nurses were pulled, as

         20  good colleagues have indicated, in 2002. The only

         21  reason we retained my nurse that year at that time

         22  is because I had a severe asthmatic. But I'm hearing

         23  so many cases where others have severe, children

         24  with severe health problems, and still then nurses

         25  got yanked.
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          2                 I also am very resentful of -- I

          3  don't know where Dr. Bassett or the DOH

          4  representative lives. You can go to every Lutheran

          5  School in Manhattan, Bronx, Queens, Brooklyn, Staten

          6  Island, they reflect the same ethnic breakdown as

          7  the public school next door.

          8                 Where does she live, this lady? I'd

          9  like to know.

         10                 But in any event, I am so hopeful

         11  that your support that a bill that provides equity,

         12  forget this parity word, equity. Equitable services

         13  is what the state mandates, that's what our children

         14  deserve, equitable services.

         15                 I thank you for your support, and I

         16  trust and hope that it will become fruitful. Thank

         17  you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

         19                 Why don't you go, Ma'am, and then

         20  we'll end on the other side.

         21                 MS. MIRKOV: My name is Lilly Mirkov.

         22  I'm a parent of a child with a peanut allergy in a

         23  parochial school, Queens New York.

         24                 I'm a resident of Whitestone, Queens.

         25  Thank you for giving me the opportunity to speak in
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          2  front of you today regarding the need for nurses in

          3  private schools in New York City.

          4                 I come before you today as a parent,

          5  taxpayer and resident of New York City.

          6                 My son has an allergy to peanuts.

          7  This allergy is very severe, and like other

          8  allergies, in case of an anaphylactic attack, an

          9  epi-pen needs to be administered.

         10                 In his first two years at school, he

         11  was provided a school nurse. This nurse is

         12  responsible for administering to him an epi-pen, if

         13  needed.

         14                 I would like you to understand

         15  exactly what happens to a child if he receives this

         16  kind of attack. They begin, they begin scratching,

         17  breaking out in hives, eyes become swollen and lis

         18  and ultimately their throat can close up.

         19                 This is what can happen to my son if

         20  he is exposed to peanuts. It sounds very severe, and

         21  it is. To think that a child with this condition

         22  would not have a nurse available is unheard of.

         23                 How can anyone say that someone with

         24  allergies or asthma does not need a nurse to be

         25  available.
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          2                 In order for my son to receive this

          3  care, he would have to rely on the teacher or

          4  secretary in the school. This individual is not

          5  required to administer medication and should not be

          6  asked to do so.

          7                 A child can be in mysterious danger

          8  in a short amount of time, as a result of no

          9  response.

         10                 We have all heard the argument that

         11  there is no money, and that since I chose to send my

         12  child to a private school, it is my problem.

         13                 That is unfair because you both know

         14  that I am a taxpayer just like everyone else, and my

         15  dollars go to the City schools for education. I

         16  choose not to send them to the public school.

         17                 I in return save the City dollars by

         18  choosing to take my child's education and not send

         19  them to public school.

         20                 I know the City has offered part-time

         21  nurses. I can tell you that having a nurse one day a

         22  week, which we all know about, makes no sense. If my

         23  child gets sick on a Tuesday, they might be there on

         24  a Friday, so I would be out of luck.

         25                 In conclusion, I would like to stress
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          2  what a serious issue this is for a parent and a

          3  child. My son goes to school worrying that there

          4  really isn't anybody there to take care of the

          5  situation, and I worry when I'm at work. Why should

          6  my son and I both be put in this situation?

          7                 I urge you today to have the nurses

          8  put back in the parochial and private schools.

          9                 This is a job that the nurses are

         10  best suited for to save their lives. Let's do

         11  something before a tragedy does occur.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you. Why

         14  don't you go right ahead.

         15                 MS. CASEY: Thank you. My name is

         16  Peggy Casey. I'm from Bayridge Brooklyn. I would

         17  like to read to you a partial conversation with my

         18  ten-year-old son, one of two of three of my children

         19  who are anaphylactic and one is also asthmatic.

         20                 "Mom, how would you feel if I had an

         21  allergy attack or an asthma attack and there was no

         22  one there to help me?

         23                 I will tell you how I would feel. I

         24  would feel stranded, like on a desert, no one there,

         25  John.
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          2                 How do you feel when you're wheezing

          3  and the inhaler doesn't seem to work and you have to

          4  call home for me to come to the school and give you

          5  a nebulizer treatment? I get really nervous, mom.

          6  Maybe you couldn't be there home that day."

          7                 Well, today I'm here. I'm not at the

          8  school and I'm not at home. He was nervous when I

          9  came here today. So, we do try to reassure him that

         10  hopefully I have left someone else in charge, but if

         11  he needs help using an epi-pen or his inhaler, that

         12  there is someone else there. We have 600 children in

         13  our school, and no school nurse.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 As a part of conversation, he is in

         16  fifth grade, he has multiple food allergies and as

         17  severe are the other allergies as peanut allergies,

         18  everybody is well aware of. If someone is near him

         19  with beef or eggs, he breaks out, even as quickly as

         20  anybody with peanuts. That's severe to me, and it's

         21  very frightening to him.

         22                 Anyone, when the possibility arose

         23  that we might come here today, he realized he

         24  couldn't speak, and believe me, he wanted to be here

         25  to tell you himself, how frightened he is that there
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          2  is no one there anymore. We did have someone in the

          3  school, we did have someone in the school who

          4  monitored his breathing for us, when his asthma

          5  became evident that it was severe. She monitored his

          6  breathing daily, and updates on the changes, she was

          7  available for him when he needed nebulizer

          8  treatments, epi-pen was in the school for him. And

          9  now recently we find we have no school nurse, and

         10  one fall day he called me for a nebulizer treatment.

         11  Well, that wound up being the first of three, and by

         12  the way, there was no school nurse. Any of those

         13  three days, really not one five-day period that he

         14  needed that, and it was the same week. This child

         15  felt stranded.

         16                 Two months ago our five-year-old son

         17  in kindergarten was given a piece of candy by

         18  another classmate and guess what, he found out he

         19  was peanut allergic. And thank God we were there

         20  because we have no school nurse. He was rushed to

         21  medical treatment, and as we have heard testimony,

         22  his eyes were swelling, his throat was swelling, he

         23  was choking in the car and this child could not

         24  breathe.

         25                 We don't have nurses. We need nurses

                                                            166

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  and we need them quickly.

          3                 Thank you, everyone, for your

          4  support.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you. We have

          6  a quick question from Council Member Felder, and

          7  then we're going to have to reconvene for our final

          8  two witnesses across the street.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you.

         10  Thank you for letting me know the time constraints

         11  on my question.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member,

         13  can I interrupt you for one second?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Sure.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: We're actually not

         16  going to reconvene across the street, we're going to

         17  reconvene right next door in Chambers. The Public

         18  Safety Committee is far more efficient than we are.

         19                 So, go ahead.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I want to

         21  thank the Chairwoman of the Committee for this

         22  spearheading the effort to get nurses in all

         23  schools, and I don't really have a question, I just

         24  wanted to mention and echo quickly some of what was

         25  the issue of the fact that at this time
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          2  transportation and textbooks and lunch books are

          3  provided in all schools, and that's good. So, our

          4  government understands that all children deserve to

          5  be brought to school. They deserve to learn and they

          6  deserve to be fed.

          7                 What we have to make sure is that we

          8  understand that the children also deserve to remain

          9  healthy and alive, of course, and it doesn't matter

         10  what school your child is in.

         11                 I remember having a nurse in the

         12  Yeshiva I went to, and I tried being sick as often

         13  as I could to get out of school, and it was

         14  important to have the nurse there. But in all

         15  seriousness, we've talked about very serious issues

         16  which are important in all schools, and I think you

         17  probably mentioned earlier, it's not only the help

         18  of the children that are there, it's things that are

         19  discovered by a nurse. They're having a nurse in the

         20  school, the nurse is sensitive to other issues,

         21  whether it's child abuse or other issues that may be

         22  going on that somebody who is not a professional

         23  doesn't realize and can help with other things. So,

         24  I'm very much in favor of this bill and hope that we

         25  will succeed in helping all of the children in the
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          2  City.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very,

          4  very much, Council member.

          5                 Council Member Gentile.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Yes, thank

          7  you very much. I, too, want to thank the entire

          8  panel, and I just wanted to particularly say to

          9  Peggy that through the good graces of our Chair this

         10  Committee will be doing a local hearing in Bayridge,

         11  so your son could come to the local hearing and tell

         12  us firsthand his experiences.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Well, great.

         14  That's terrific. Well, thank you all very much.

         15                 I just want to confirm that Patrick

         16  Monitello is here? Okay, well, Patrick will be our

         17  final witness and we are going to reconvene next

         18  door in the Committee Room, and I want to thank

         19  Chairperson Yassky, Barron and Gerson for giving us

         20  a little more time, and we're going to do the final

         21  witness quickly next door, so why don't we just all

         22  adjourn right now. Pretend you're in school, all get

         23  in a line size order.

         24                 (Recess taken.)

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Come right up to
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          2  the witness stand and just identify yourself for the

          3  record.

          4                 MR. MONITELLO: Hi. My name is Patrick

          5  Monitello. I'm from Staten Island, New York. Thanks

          6  for allowing me to speak.

          7                 I have a 14-year-old daughter that is

          8  in elementary school. She has cystic fibrosis, and

          9  was also diagnosed last year with CF-related

         10  diabetes.

         11                 So, in her case what happens is a lot

         12  of times her sugar will drop, and she won't even

         13  feel it sometimes. And if there wasn't a nurse who

         14  had an incident in school last year where she felt

         15  like she was just blacking out, and the nurse, she

         16  wasn't totally out, but the nurse gave her some

         17  juice and made her eat a snack and thank God

         18  everything worked out good. But like all the other

         19  parents that I was listening to, and I just

         20  appreciate your support, and I hope through

         21  everything yous go through, she's going to attend

         22  Moore Catholic High School next year, and I'm hoping

         23  we can get a nurse there.

         24                 Thank you for your time.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very
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          2  much.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Patrick, I

          4  just want to thank you and let you know that we're

          5  going to do everything we can to get this passed.

          6  The issue of high schools is something that we're

          7  not looking at now, but we're going to look at it

          8  when we get through this. But thank you very much,

          9  and thank you for waiting. It means a lot. Thank

         10  you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very

         12  much for waiting, and this hearing is adjourned. But

         13  as I said earlier, people should note September 20th

         14  at 10:00 a.m. in their books. This hearing is

         15  adjourned. Thank you all very much.

         16                 (The following written testimony was

         17  read into the record.)

         18

         19

         20  Written Testimony Of:

         21  Commission on the Public's Health System

         22

         23                 Thank you for holding this important

         24  hearing. Our children are in serious trouble

         25  health-wise, with mounting numbers having asthma,
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          2  diabetes, and other illnesses that need the

          3  attention of health professionals.

          4                 We, and the public health structure,

          5  have not paid enough attention to the formative

          6  years of childhood. Where once the proud city public

          7  health department exceeded the state standards for

          8  school health, now we would fall far below those

          9  standards if we were held to them.

         10                 We are faced with outrageous proposed

         11  reductions in public health programs that have an

         12  impact on the health of our children. We have

         13  children with special needs that are not getting the

         14  care and attention that they deserve.

         15                 As concerned adults, we need to focus

         16  on short and long range strategies to change the

         17  current picture. A good place to start is with the

         18  school health program. We need to ensure that school

         19  health nursing is seen as a choice career for those

         20  trained in the profession. Instead, unless turned

         21  around, we see the city treating nurses as

         22  unnecessary in the summer and therefore being

         23  "laid-off" for the two months. Do we lay off

         24  teachers every summer or do they get paid year-round

         25  whether or not they are in the classroom?
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          2                 Why are these two professions being

          3  treated differently? Both are equally critical to

          4  the well-being of our children.

          5                 In the short-range, we need a plan to

          6  maximize the school health program to ensure that

          7  there is adequate and appropriate staffing and use

          8  of that staff, in the school system. We need a total

          9  reorganization of the school health program

         10  utilizing all staff to make it work. The Commission

         11  on the Public's Health System has been communicating

         12  with Local 436, DC 37, and the Doctors Council about

         13  their reorganization proposal.

         14                 An important issue is the lack of

         15  sufficient number of nurses to ensure that each

         16  public school has a full-time nurse; that is the

         17  Commission's priority. Setting other standards that

         18  take away from that priority, which this bill

         19  appears to do, is a problem.

         20                 We would ask that attention be paid

         21  to: Figuring out the best reorganization of the

         22  school health program to maximize the public health

         23  presence in each of the schools and ensuring that

         24  the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene

         25  prioritizes the school health program in its budget
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          2  so that there is appropriate funding for the entire

          3  program.

          4                 Standards for the school health

          5  program are important because the city is currently

          6  exempt from state standards having far exceeded

          7  those standards in a different time when children

          8  and their health was a priority.

          9

         10

         11  Denise Wine

         12

         13                 My name is Denise Wine. I am a

         14  registered Professional Nurse since 1983.

         15                 I am also a Professional Photographer

         16  and an international lecturer on the subject of fine

         17  art protraiture of children and families since

         18  returning to work after a seven-year leave to raise

         19  my daughters.

         20                 I volunteer to help raise money for

         21  non ambulatory children, I moderate the cheerleading

         22  program in my children's school to ensure fairness

         23  and positive role modeling when dealing with young

         24  girls, I donate my time and expertise with the local

         25  high school: All in hopes that I may reach if not
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          2  only to one child or teen to help them make better

          3  decisions regarding what is right and what is wrong.

          4                 By showing the children we care,

          5  showing them that we, the adults in their community,

          6  have an interest in who they are, instills in them

          7  greater values that will hopefully carry through to

          8  their adult years.

          9                 Perhaps the most important tasks I

         10  perform are mothering, nurturing, grievance

         11  counselor, emotional guidance, and physical well

         12  being, to name a few.

         13                 I am blessed with five beautiful

         14  daughters, ranging in age from 6 to 16. My daily

         15  responsibilities range from carefully removing the

         16  crust from my kindergartner's bologna sandwich (with

         17  only 5 slices of not too thin, not too thick

         18  bologna), to advising my high school juni9or on sex,

         19  drugs, alcohol, and kindness and consideration of

         20  others. My worries each day range from whether or

         21  not my 14 year old will make it to marriage without

         22  being involved in a car crash, to my 9 year old

         23  choking on her friends popcorn during lunch. One of

         24  my greatest concerns and fears is that the proper

         25  supervision and guidance (yes, these words are
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          2  synonymous) will not be available for my children.

          3  These go hand in hand, and without them, the future

          4  cannot be assured.

          5                 You already know that it is

          6  impossible to tell a 7 year old with peanut

          7  allergies to only have a reaction on a Monday or

          8  Friday when there is a nurse in the school. You must

          9  already know that you cannot tell the 1`2 year old

         10  boy who has eaten strawberries his whole life, as

         11  his throat is closing in on him ad he is gasping for

         12  air, that although there is an epi-pen in the draw,

         13  there is no one qualified to administer it. Yes, the

         14  ambulance will be called, but we won't go there.

         15                 Unfortunately, we cannot choose the

         16  time and place for an emergency to occur. We can

         17  make the choice to prevent a tragedy.

         18                 The city must already know prevention

         19  is the key. They do. We know an RN is important

         20  because they are providing these services to the

         21  public schools. We've established that the city is

         22  aware of this and they admit that this is important

         23  again, because nonpublic schools have them.

         24                 There will be a disaster, there will

         25  be lawsuits, and the city will end up spending
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          2  millions of dollars on these lawsuits that arise

          3  from this.

          4                 Each parent, including any of you

          5  here that have children and myself, will pray that

          6  it is not their child. There will be a new law. We

          7  all hope it is not our child that is the next

          8  "Megan."

          9                 Children are our future. They are the

         10  ultimate beauty of life. We, as a community, need to

         11  help them grow. It is all about the messages

         12  children receive from those they respect, from those

         13  in authoritative positions. What kind of signal are

         14  we sending when we tell our youth, our future

         15  teachers, our future council men and women, lawyers,

         16  doctors, and the like, that they aren't as important

         17  as other issues that the money is allocated to. Even

         18  more terrifying is the chance that children in

         19  nonpublic schools will get the message you are

         20  currently sending: Only some of you matter.

         21                 School Nurses.

         22                 There are 86,000 in public schools in

         23  the United States.

         24                 There are 48 million students in the

         25  United States.
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          2                 There are 20 million students with

          3  chronic health conditions in the United States.

          4                 School nurses are often the only

          5  primary care providers that children see on a

          6  regular basis. Children who used to stay at home

          7  when ill now go to school instead, often because

          8  both parents work. Many children with severe health

          9  problems who used to be enrolled in special schools

         10  or receive tutoring now are enrolled in classes with

         11  healthier children.

         12                 School nurses don't just dole out

         13  bandages anymore. School nurses administer

         14  medication and monitor medication response,

         15  respiratory status, seizure patterns and blood

         16  glucose levels. School nurses monitor students for

         17  parasites, skin infections, infectious diseases, and

         18  sexual and physical abuse. More than 97 percent of

         19  school nurses care for students with diabetes; more

         20  than 95 percent care for students with seizures; and

         21  more than 93 percent care for students with chronic

         22  and severe asthma.

         23

         24

         25  Written Testimony Of:
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          2  Maria Marchiano

          3

          4                 Hello.  My name is Maria Marchiano. I

          5  am a working mother of two asthmatic children who

          6  attend a small non-public school on Staten Island.

          7  All children deserve the security of having a

          8  trained health care professional available to them

          9  during school hours.

         10                 I would like to share a story about

         11  something that happened to my son at school. Two

         12  years ago our full-time nurse was removed from our

         13  school and replaced with a nurse who is only there

         14  two days a week. Last year my son had an asthma

         15  attack on a day when the school nurse was not in

         16  attendance. The well meaning but terrified

         17  administrative staff attempted to administer my

         18  son's inhaler through his aerochamber. I was called

         19  at work and on this day had the good fortune to be

         20  working within 15 minutes of the school. When I

         21  arrived at the school, my son's symptoms were no

         22  better. I asked for his medication and discovered

         23  that the cap to his inhaler was missing. I searched

         24  for the cap and finally found it embedded in his

         25  aerochamber. The untrained, non-medical personnel at
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          2  the school did not realize that they had to remove

          3  the cap before inserting it into the aerochamber. As

          4  a result, my son did not receive his rescue

          5  medication to counteract his asthma attack.

          6  Thankfully this story has a happy ending. I was able

          7  to quickly rectify the situation by immediately

          8  administering his medication and we were able to get

          9  his breathing under control.

         10                 I live in fear of this occurrence

         11  happening again and have gone as far as to keep my

         12  sons home from school if their asthma is bothering

         13  them on a day I know the school nurse is not on the

         14  premises.

         15                 I share this story with you to

         16  emphasize the critical importance of having a nurse

         17  available in any school where children spend the

         18  majority of their day.

         19                 I am extremely grateful for the hard

         20  work of the members of the City Council for taking

         21  up this fight and pray that they will continue until

         22  a nurse is available to every child in every school

         23  in September whether it be private or public.

         24                 I know I want that for my children

         25  and I am sure that every parent in this City wants
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          2  that for their children as well.

          3                 Thank you.

          4

          5

          6  Written Testimony Of:

          7  Dr. Thomas Chadzutko

          8  Superintendent of Schools

          9  Diocese of Brooklyn and Queens

         10

         11                 Good morning, Council Speaker Gifford

         12  and City Council Members. My name is Dr. Thomas

         13  Chadzutko and I am the Superintendent of Schools for

         14  the Catholic Schools within the Diocese of Brooklyn

         15  and Queens. I thank you for your work on 207-A

         16  requiring the New York City Department of health and

         17  Mental Hygiene to make nurses available to all

         18  schools within New York City; public, religious, and

         19  independent.

         20                 Over the past three years, we have

         21  seen nursing services, which were less than

         22  equitable and certainly not daily in our Catholic

         23  schools, dwindle and deteriorate beyond recognition.

         24  The day to day needs of our school children are not

         25  being met unless a school is, and I hesitate to say,
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          2  "fortunate enough" to have a student with severe

          3  medical need on their register. Even then, the

          4  building principal must complain and argue with the

          5  District Supervising Nurse to assign a nurse five

          6  days a week. I cite an example of just such a case.

          7                 St. Ann School in Flushing (Public

          8  School District 25, Region 3), a Catholic School

          9  enrolling over 200 students, has a junior high level

         10  student, that I'll name "Bianca", who had an organ

         11  transplant and, as a result, has a feeding tube. The

         12  principal requested a nurse from the district but

         13  was informed that she did not need a nurse on site.

         14  Apparently, "Bianca" was not fed through the feeding

         15  tube during school hours and therefore according to

         16  the City, no nurse was needed.

         17                 The principal further inquired about

         18  the need for assistance, should the tube "fall out"

         19  or become cause for medical attention. The

         20  unfortunate response was to call 911. This was less

         21  than comforting for "Bianca's" principal, teachers

         22  and parents, of course.

         23                 As I'm sure you are keenly aware,

         24  educators do not have a background in medicine or

         25  even in first response aid. By refusing a nurse to

                                                            182

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  the "Bianca's" of this city, we are jeopardizing the

          3  lives of thousands of children with daily, intensive

          4  medical needs.

          5                 This story has a quite ironic ending.

          6  A kindergartner registered at ST. Ann School that

          7  was a severe diabetic. That medical need, under the

          8  504, required the district to place a nurse at St.

          9  Ann School. Although this was a solution to address

         10  "Bianca's" need, her health became a "secondary

         11  condition" that if the school hadn't registered the

         12  Kindergartner, they would still be without a nurse

         13  today.

         14                 In addition to such severe cases as

         15  "Bianca's", we have many students on a day-to-day

         16  basis attending school with some sort of medication.

         17  It seems that in today's world, students with

         18  medication (an antibiotic for an ear infection,

         19  asthma pumps, epi-pens for emergency response to bee

         20  stings and peanut allergies) are far outnumbering

         21  those without. Under NYS education law, principals

         22  and teachers are not able to administer medication.

         23  That work is done by a doctor or nurse. All too

         24  often, students are in our schools, taking

         25  medication, with no nurse on site at all. What will
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          2  it take for our City to realize that each and every

          3  child, regardless of where their parents choose to

          4  send them to school, is entitled to similar medical

          5  care. It has been said by this City's administration

          6  that "we collect tuition from parents; we should be

          7  able to provide nursing services". Yes, we do

          8  collect tuition, for an education that is provided

          9  in each of our schools. The bodies are in the seats;

         10  the children of our city are in both public and

         11  nonpublic schools. It is time for the City to

         12  recognize the need of our schools to have nurses.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 Thomas Chadzutko, Ed.D.

         15                 Superintendent of Schools.

         16                 (Hearing concluded at 1:35 p.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 2nd day of June 2004.
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